neffy[™] (epinephrine nasal spray) FOR THE TREATMENT OF TYPE I ALLERGIC REACTIONS, INCLUDING ANAPHYLAXIS



ARS PHARMACUETICALS INC. FDA ADVISORY BOARD BRIEFING DOCUMENT

MEETING DATE: 11 MAY 2023

PULMONARY-ALLERGY DRUGS ADVISORY COMMITTEE BRIEFING MATERIALS: AVAILABLE FOR PUBLIC RELEASE

TABLE OF CONTENTS

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY	12
Introduction	12
Pathophysiology of Type I Allergic Reactions and Anaphylaxis	13
Epinephrine's Mechanism of Action	13
Early Intervention with Epinephrine is Critical	14
Current Treatment Options	15
Unmet Medical Need	16
Clinical Program	18
Bracket Approach for Pharmacokinetics	18
Pharmacodynamic Data as a Surrogate for Efficacy	20
Evaluation of Various Dosing Conditions	21
Integrated Pharmacokinetic and Pharmacodynamic Analysis	21
Integrated Pharmacokinetics Results	22
Integrated Pharmacodynamics Results	24
Differences in Pharmacodynamic Response by Route	27
Pediatric Pharmacokinetics and Pharmacodynamic Results	27
Evaluation of Various Dosing Conditions	27
Effect of Hypotension during Anaphylaxis (GLP Dog Anaphylaxis Model)	28
Effect of Allergic Rhinitis (EPI 16)	28
Clinical Safety	33
Pediatric Population (≥30 kg)	34
Benefits/Risk of <i>neffy</i>	34
BACKGROUND	35
Overview of Serious Allergic Reaction Including Anaphylaxis	35
Epinephrine's Mechanism of Action	36
Representative Epinephrine Receptor Activity	36
Early Intervention with Epinephrine is Critical	37
Current Treatment Options	38
Dosages	39
Efficacy of IM injection and EpiPen are Equivalent in Practice	39
Unmet Medical Need	40
	EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

2.5.	neffy Product Features	43
3.	NEFFY PRODUCT DESCRIPTION	44
3.1.	Epinephrine	44
3.2.	Dodecylmaltoside (DDM)	45
3.3.	Unit Dose Sprayer (UDS)	45
3.4.	Nasal Absorption of Epinephrine	45
4.	CLINICAL DEVELOPMENT PROGRAM AND RATIONALE	46
4.1.	Pharmacokinetic Variability of Epinephrine Injection Products	46
4.2.	Bracketing Approach	52
4.3.	Pharmacodynamic Data as a Surrogate for Efficacy	52
4.4.	Evaluation of Various Dosing Conditions	53
4.5.	Summary of Completed ARS Clinical Studies	53
5.	RESULTS: OVERVIEW OF CLINICAL PHARMACOLOGY	55
5.1.	Integrated Pharmacokinetic Results	56
5.1.1.	Pharmacokinetics of Once Dosed Treatments	56
5.1.2.	Pharmacokinetics of Twice Dosed Treatments	57
5.2.	Integrated Pharmacodynamic Results	59
5.2.1.	Pharmacodynamics of Once Dosed Treatments	59
5.2.2.	Pharmacodynamics of Twice Dosed Treatments	61
5.2.3.	Differences in Pharmacodynamic Response by Route	63
5.3.	Pediatric Data from Type I Allergy Patients – EPI 10	66
5.3.1.	Pediatric Pharmacokinetics Results	66
5.3.2.	Pediatric Pharmacodynamic Results	67
5.4.	Various Dosing Conditions	67
5.4.1.	Effect of Hypotension during Anaphylaxis (GLP Dog Anaphylaxis Model)	67
5.4.2.	Effect of Allergic Rhinitis (EPI 16)	68
5.4.3.	EPI 14 – Upper Respiratory Tract Infection	72
5.5.	Additional Analyses Across Studies	74
5.5.1.	Population PK Modeling (POP PK)	74
5.5.2.	Physiologically Based Absorption Model Analysis	74
5.5.2.1.	Conclusions	77
5.5.3.	Effect of Weight on Epinephrine Concentration	77

5.6.	Human Factors	79
6.	OVERVIEW OF EFFICACY	80
6.1.	Overall Pharmacokinetic Assessment	80
6.2.	Overall Pharmacodynamics Assessment	80
6.3.	Various Case Dosing Assessment	80
7.	OVERVIEW OF SAFETY	81
7.1.	Relevant Animal Toxicity and Product Quality Information	81
7.2.	Safety of <i>neffy</i> in Clinical Studies	82
7.2.1.	Demographics and Extent of Exposure	82
7.2.1.1.	Extent of Exposure in Pivotal Safety Studies	82
7.2.1.2.	Demographic and Other Characteristics from Primary <i>neffy</i> 2 mg Studies (EPI 15, EPI 16, and EPI 17)	82
7.2.2.	Overall Adverse Events Experience	84
7.2.2.1.	Integrated Summary of Safety	84
7.2.2.2.	Common Adverse Events from <i>neffy</i> Primary 2 mg Clinical Trials (Integrated Summary of Safety of EPI 15, EPI 16, and EPI 17)	85
7.2.2.3.	Discussion of Adverse Reactions	87
7.2.3.	Additional Safety Observations from Clinical Trials	89
7.2.3.1.	Nasal Symptoms and Pain	89
7.3.	C _{max} versus E _{max} Analysis	89
8.	BENEFIT / RISK CONCLUSIONS	89
9.	REFERENCES	92

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1: Main Pharmacologic Effect of Epinephrine	14
Table 2: Unmet Needs and Product Attributes to Address	17
Table 3: PK Parameters Across Representative FDA Approved Injection Products	20
Table 4: Bracket Approach for Pharmacokinetics (Based on First Dose Only)	20
Table 5: Summary of Primary (neffy 2 mg) and Supportive (neffy 1 mg) Clinical Pharmacology Studies (abbreviated)	21
Table 6: Pharmacokinetic Parameters of Single dosing, by Treatment (Bracketing)	23
Table 7: Pharmacokinetic Parameters of Twice Dosing, by Treatment	23
Table 8: Summary Statistics of Epinephrine Pediatric Pharmacokinetic Parameters I Treatment	by 27
Table 9: Pharmacokinetic Parameters, by Treatment (EPI 16)	
Table 10: Partial AUC Results (EPI 16)	30
Table 11: Summary Statistics of Epinephrine C _{max} By Time Point Results (EPI 16).	31
Table 12: Pharmacodynamic Parameters, by Nasal Condition	32
Table 13: Main Pharmacologic Effects of Epinephrine	37
Table 14: History of FDA Approved Community Use Products	
Table 15: Weighted Average of Second Doses by Product, Based on Studies 100% U of Either IM Needle/Syringe or Epinephrine Autoinjector	Use 40
Table 16: Unmet Needs and Product Attributes to Address	42
Table 17: Features Anticipated to Contribute to More Rapid Use of <i>neffy</i> vs EAIs	43
Table 18: PK Parameters Across Injection Products	47
Table 19: Bracket Approach for Pharmacokinetics	52
Table 20: Summary of Primary and Supportive Clinical Pharmacology Studies	54
Table 21: Summary Statistics of Total Epinephrine Pharmacokinetic Parameters - O Dosed Treatments	nce57
Table 22: Summary Statistics of Total Epinephrine Pharmacokinetic Parameters: Tw Dosed Treatments	vice- 58
Table 23: Integrated Pharmacodynamic Response, Once Dosed, by Treatment	61
Table 24: Integrated Pharmacodynamic Response, Twice Dosed, by Treatment	63
Table 25: History of Pediatric Dose	66
Table 26: Summary Statistics of Epinephrine Pediatric Pharmacokinetic Parameters Treatment	by66

Table 27:	Pediatric Pharmacodynamic Parameters for PD Change from Baseline	.67
Table 28:	Pharmacokinetic Parameters, by Treatment (EPI 16)	.70
Table 29:	Partial AUC Results (EPI 16)	.70
Table 30:	Summary Statistics of Epinephrine C _{max} By Time Point Results (EPI 16)	.71
Table 31:	Pharmacodynamic Parameters, by Nasal Condition	.72
Table 32: S	Summary Statistics of Epinephrine Pharmacokinetic Parameters	.73
Table 33:	Simulated and Observed T _{max} , C _{max} and AUC _{0-t} values and Ratios for <i>neffy</i> Following a Single Dose in Children from EPI 10	.76
Table 34:	Linear Regression of Ln(C _{max}) and Ln(AUC _{0-240min}) vs Body Weight (kg) for Total and Baseline Corrected Epinephrine, Sorted by Treatment	.78
Table 35:	Demographic Profile of Patients in Controlled Trials by Pooled Treatment Safety Population - EPI 15, EPI 16, and EPI 17	.84
Table 36:	List of Moderate Adverse Events	.85
Table 37: I	List of Severe Adverse Events	.85
Table 38:	Incidence of Treatment-Related Treatment-Emergent Adverse Events - Pooled Population for EPI 15, EPI 16, and EPI 17	.86
Table 39:	Adverse Events Occurring in ≥2 Pediatric Subjects	.88

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1:	neffy Saline Based Epinephrine Nasal Spray: Triad of -Approved Components	12
Figure 2:	Early Intervention with Epinephrine – Time is Critical	15
Figure 3:	Percent of Allergic Reactions Requiring a Second Dose, by Treatment— Results of a 12 Study Analysis	16
Figure 4:	Variable Pharmacokinetic Profiles of Epinephrine Injection from ARS Studies	19
Figure 5:	Plasma Concentration vs Time Profiles of Epinephrine Single and Twice Dosing	22
Figure 6:	PK Dose Proportionality Based on Mean Cmax	23
Figure 7:	Single Dose: Mean Change from Baseline PD vs Time and Box Plots	25
Figure 8:	Twice Dosing: Mean Change from Baseline PD vs Time and Box Plots	26
Figure 9:	Absorption During Hypotension: GLP Dog Anaphylaxis Model (Baseline Corrected)	28
Figure 10	: Plasma Concentration vs Time Profiles of Epinephrine in neffy Subjects with Rhinitis and Normal Nasal Conditions (EPI 16)	29
Figure 11	: EPI 15 PD Results: Box Plots	32

Figure 12:	Plasma Concentration and Systolic Blood Pressure Change vs. time (EPI 14)	33
Figure 13:	Early Intervention with Epinephrine – Time is Critical	38
Figure 14:	Relationship Between the Use of IM Epinephrine vs. Autoinjector on Frequency of Second Dose	40
Figure 15:	neffy Triad	44
Figure 16:	Variable Pharmacokinetic Profiles of Epinephrine Injection from ARS Studies	47
Figure 17:	Mean C _{max} (top) and Distribution of Individuals (bottom) Across T _{max} Categories	48
Figure 18:	Distribution of Cmax values of individual participant with Tmax ≤4 minutes	49
Figure 19:	Epinephrine concentration versus time for individual participants reaching plasma epinephrine concentrations of >1000 pg/mL with Tmax \leq 4 min	50
Figure 20:	Time Course of Pharmacokinetic and Pharmacodynamic (SBP) Responses After Administration of Epinephrine via EpiPen	51
Figure 21:	Early and Late Peaks following Injection	51
Figure 22:	Plasma Concentration vs Time Profiles of Epinephrine, Once Dosed, by Treatment	57
Figure 23:	Plasma Concentration vs Time Profiles of Epinephrine, Twice Dosed, by Treatment	58
Figure 24:	Dose Proportionality Following Twice Dosed Treatments	59
Figure 25:	Single Dose: Mean Change from Baseline PD vs Time and Box Plots	60
Figure 26:	Twice Dosing: Mean Change from Baseline PD Response vs Time and Box Plots	62
Figure 27:	Pharmacodynamic Responses by Route of Administration in Dog Anaphylaxis	65
Figure 28:	Absorption During Hypotension: GLP Dog Anaphylaxis Model	68
Figure 29:	Plasma Concentration vs Time Profiles of Epinephrine (EPI 16)	69
Figure 30:	EPI 15 PD Results: Box Plots	72
Figure 31:	Plasma Concentration and Systolic Blood Pressure Change vs. time (EPI 14)	73
Figure 32:	Comparison of Epinephrine Plasma Profiles in Pediatrics from EPI 10	75
Figure 33:	E _{max} Model: neffy and EpiPen, Maximum Change from Baseline Systolic Blood Pressure vs C _{max}	89

LIST OF APPENDICES

Appendix 1:	EniPen S	Study Results	Compared to	Neffv	99
appendix 1.	. Lpn en s	Study Results	compared it	Jitteny	

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS AND DEFINITION OF TERMS

ABBREVIATION	DEFINITION	
AE	Adverse event	
ARS	ARS Pharmaceuticals Inc.	
ARS-1	0.3 mg epinephrine nasal spray suspension manufactured for ARS Pharmaceuticals Inc.	
AUC	Area under the curve	
AUC _(0-t)	Area under the plasma concentration-time curve to the final sample with a concentration \ge LOQ	
AUC _{last}	Area under the plasma concentration time curve from time zero to the time of the last quantifiable concentration	
AUEC	Area under the effect curve.	
AUEC 0-xmin	Area under the effect time curve from time zero to x minutes	
AUEC _{last}	Area under the effect curve from time zero to the time of last reported PD measurement	
BP	Blood pressure	
bpm	Beats per minute	
CI	Confidence interval	
C _{max}	Maximum plasma concentration	
CRF	Case report form	
DBP	Diastolic blood pressure	
DDM	Dodecylmaltoside	
EAI	Epinephrine autoinjector	
ER	Emergency room	
E _{max}	Maximum observed effect	
FDA	US Food and Drug Administration	

ABBREVIATION	DEFINITION
GLP	Good Laboratory Practice
GRAS	Generally recognized as safe
HR	Heart rate
IFU	Instructions for Use
IgE	immunoglobulin E
IM	Intramuscular
IN	Intranasal
IV	Intravenous
kg	Kilogram(s)
L	left
mg	Milligram(s)
mL	Milliliter
MOA	Mechanism of action
NAC	Nasal allergy challenge
OR	Odds ratio
pAUC	Partial area under the curve
pAUEC	Partial area under the effect curve
PBAM	Physiologically based absorption model
PD	Pharmacodynamics
pg	Picogram
РК	Pharmacokinetics
POP PK	Population pharmacokinetics
PR	Pulse rate
R	Right

ABBREVIATION	DEFINITION
SAE	Serious adverse event
SBP	Systolic blood pressure
SC	Subcutaneous
TEAE	Treatment-emergent adverse event
t _{Emax}	Time of maximum observed effect
t _{max}	Time to maximum plasma concentration
μL	Microliter
UDS	Unit Dose Sprayer
URTI	Upper respiratory tract infection
US/USA	United States of America
VAS	Visual Analog Scale

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

1.1. Introduction

This briefing document is being filed to the Pulmonary-Allergy Drugs Advisory Committee to support the review of $neffy^{\text{TM}}$ (epinephrine nasal spray) 2 mg as a needle-free alternative to currently approved injection products for the treatment of Type I allergic reactions including anaphylaxis. The proposed Indication and Usage is as follows:

neffy is indicated for the immediate and emergency treatment of allergic reactions (Type I), including anaphylaxis, which may result from insect stings or bites, foods, drugs, sera, diagnostic testing substances and other allergens, as well as idiopathic anaphylaxis or exercise-induced anaphylaxis.

neffy is an aqueous formulation of epinephrine (Figure 1) that includes a functional excipient dodecylmaltoside (DDM; tradename Intravail[®] A3). This excipient improves the bioavailability of the drug when administered with an aqueous solution (similar to saline) by the intranasal (IN) route and gives injection-like absorption without known injection-related adverse effects (e.g., pain or irritation). DDM, in the class of alkyl-glycosides, is considered Generally Recognized as Safe (GRAS) by the US FDA and is used in two FDA approved products in the United States (Tosymra[®] and Valtoco[®]). The Unit Dose Sprayer (UDS) device utilized to deliver *neffy* was originally introduced in 1997 and is approved for use with six branded products in the US including NARCAN[®] Nasal Spray, with more than 50 million prescriptions through 2022, and recently approved by FDA for over-the-counter use without training.





1.2. Pathophysiology of Type I Allergic Reactions and Anaphylaxis

Anaphylaxis is the most severe form of allergic reaction, or hypersensitivity reaction, and is almost always unexpected, and can be life-threatening (Tang-2009). The pathophysiology of anaphylaxis is primarily attributable to antigen-specific immunoglobulin E (IgE) activation and the subsequent activation of mast cells and basophils, ultimately leading to widespread release of histamine and other inflammatory mediators (e.g., cytokines). This histamine release results in generalized vasodilation, elevated heart rate, and increased vascular permeability (Peavy-2008), potentially leading to cardiovascular collapse.

Type I allergic reactions are potentially life-threatening hypersensitivity reactions that can occur within minutes of exposure to an allergen and generally require immediate treatment to relieve symptoms and prevent further progression. If not treated immediately, the reaction can progress to a more severe stage known as anaphylaxis that involves constriction of the airways, swelling of the throat, rapid heart rate, severe hypotension and other respiratory and cardiac symptoms that can develop and potentially present a life-threatening emergency.

The incidence of all-cause anaphylaxis in the United States has increased by 70% from 2004 to 2016. In 2016, the incidence rate was 218 per 100,000 persons in a patient population that was approximately 75% adults (Chaaban-2019).

Delay in treatment may result in death by airway obstruction or vascular collapse (Joint Task Force on Practice Parameters-2015). Overall rate of mortality from anaphylaxis in the United States is between 186 to 225 deaths per year (Ma-2013; Jerschow-2014). The vast majority of these deaths are persons that did not have epinephrine available at the time of the event or were not treated with epinephrine prior to emergency medical personnel could arrive (Poirot-2020).

1.2.1. Epinephrine's Mechanism of Action

Immediate administration of epinephrine is currently the first-line treatment for severe Type I allergic reactions (Shaker-2020) including anaphylaxis with more than 100 years of clinical experience. Epinephrine's Mechanism of Action (MOA) for the treatment of Type I allergic reactions and anaphylaxis is generally well understood and comes from direct systemic agonism of α - and β -adrenergic receptors, leading to a reversal of the pathological response to the histamine cascade caused by an antigen (Table 1).

Adrenergic Receptor	Pharmacological Effect of Agonism by Epinephrine	Clinical Effect of Agonism by Epinephrine
α1	Increases blood pressureDecreases mucosal edema	Relieves hypotension and shockRelieves upper airway obstruction
β1	• Increases blood pressure and heart rate	• Relieves hypotension and shock
β2	 Relaxation of bronchial smooth muscles Increased skeletal muscle vasodilation Inhibits inflammatory mediator release from mast cells and basophils 	 Increase in bronchial airway Increases blood flow to skeletal muscle Reverses pathological histamine cascade

Table 1: Main Pharmacologic Effect of Epinephrine

1.2.2. Early Intervention with Epinephrine is Critical

Symptoms of a Type I allergic reaction (Figure 2) are often variable and it can be difficult to predict severity and rate of progression of an episode. Because the clinical course of anaphylaxis can be unpredictable, prompt, and early use of epinephrine should be considered even with mild symptoms or single-system involvement (Shaker-2020). In the absence of clinical improvement, guidelines for the treatment of anaphylaxis recommend administering repeated doses of epinephrine every 5 to 15 minutes.



Figure 2: Early Intervention with Epinephrine – Time is Critical

1. Emergency treatment of anaphylactic reactions guidelines for healthcare providers. Resuscitation Council (UK) 2016 2. JF Philips et al. Allergy Asthma Proc (2011) 3. JT Reming et al. J Allergy Clin Immunol Pract (2014) 4. E. Andrew et al. Prehospital Emergency Care (2018) 5. ARS market research 6. Liu 2020

1.3. Current Treatment Options

The FDA has approved intramuscular and subcutaneous epinephrine injection and epinephrine autoinjectors including EpiPen[®], Twinject[®], Adrenaclick[®], Auvi-Q[®], SymjepiTM, and as well as generic epinephrine autoinjectors. With exception of Auvi-Q, there were no clinical trials, nor PK studies, conducted to support approval of currently approved community use injection products and all were based on the observed efficacy of IM injection (needle & syringe) used in clinical settings. More recently it has been established that the different autoinjector products and manual IM injection with needle and syringe, all have very different pharmacokinetic profiles. Despite these pharmacokinetic differences the efficacy, all approved products in the treatment of severe allergic reactions including anaphylaxis are used interchangeably with the same guidance – immediately dose and wait 5 to 15 minutes to observe clinical response, then give a second dose if no response.

While controlled clinical trials have not been conducted with various epinephrine injection products, several studies have evaluated efficacy based on resolution of the allergic event after a single dose and the frequency with which a second dose was needed. Analysis of 21 studies that reported about second dose of epinephrine and identified the device used (Kahveci-2020, Oya-2020, Kondo-2018, Cardona-2017, Oren-2007, De Swert-2008, Johnson-2014, Nogic-2016, Grabenhenrich-2018, Campbell-2015b, Lee-2015, Ben Shoshan-2013, Soller-2019, White-2015, Arkwright-2009, Gold-2000, Webb-2006, Noimark-2012, Cardona-2020) suggests that autoinjectors (79.6% of these were EpiPen) and manual IM injection appear to be clinically comparable. The results of this analysis (Figure 3) demonstrated that second doses were required

in 10.9% of events (n=799) when an autoinjector was used and in 9.3% of events (n=570) when an IM needle and syringe was used.

Figure 3: Percent of Allergic Reactions Requiring a Second Dose, by Treatment—Results of a 12 Study Analysis



1.4. Unmet Medical Need

The importance of early epinephrine treatment immediately after symptoms or an allergic reaction are detected has been emphasized in the literature, guidelines and FDA approved product labeling (Fleming-2015, Sicherer-2017, Shaker 2020, Muraro-2021) for treatment of Type I allergic reactions and anaphylaxis.

It has been reported that delayed use of epinephrine has been associated with the following increased in serious outcomes (Patel-2021; EpiPen Package Insert-2020; Hochstadter-2016; Andrew-2018; Liu-2020; Fleming-2015; Turner-2017):

- Increased epinephrine requirement to control anaphylaxis symptoms (OR = 5.0)
- Abnormal vital signs heat rate, systolic blood pressure, respiratory rate (p<0.001)
- Biphasic anaphylaxis (OR = 3.4)
- Risk factor for hospitalization (HR = 4.0)
- Fatality

However, even of those patients/caregivers who accept and fill a prescription, many either do not administer treatment entirely in an allergy emergency, or delay the use of epinephrine autoinjectors (EAIs) until symptoms progress to a more severe state, even when the patient or caregivers knows they are having a severe allergic reaction (Asthma and Allergy Foundation of

America-2019; Noimark-2012; Brooks-2017; Fleming-2015). These limitations are primarily driven by fear of the needle (needle phobia), concerns about safety, complexity of the device and concerns about having to go to the emergency room (ER) after dosing, often resulting in hesitancy to use the devices, delayed treatment, and an increased risk of serious complications and hospitalizations (Sampson-1992; Søreide-1988; Pumphrey-2000, Casale 2022).

The most common concerns contributing to not having epinephrine present at all or dosing delays leading to worse outcomes in an allergy emergency are listed in the Table 2, with a detailed discussion provided in Section 2.4.

Reasons for delaying or not administe	ering epinephrine	Product attributes needed	
Never filling prescription	~43% of attempted Rx by doctors are rejected by patients and caregivers (Cohen 2021)	Smaller, needle-free, pain-free, easier to use devices	
Lack of carriage	Too large to fit in pocket (~50% do not carry one, <10% carry two devices) (Warren-2018)	Smaller more portable devices	
Fear of the needle	Needle phobia is the primary cause for failure to administer (25%-50% of events) or delayed treatment (until more severe and up to 18 minutes in studies) with epinephrine when needed (Noimark-2012; Fleming-2015; Brooks-2017)	Needle-free, pain-free	
Concerns about safety	Lacerations, injection into bone, IV bolus injection, & accidental self- injection (Brown-2016; Kim 2017; Ebisawa-2022; Anshien-2019)	Needle-free, Patient education	
Complex administration	23 to 35% error rate after training; Multiple device reliability recalls/warnings by FDA (El Turki- 2017; FDA-2015; 2017; 2020; 2022)	Easy to use device, Rapid to administer, intuitive to use devices, Reliable	
Uncertainty if symptoms warrant use	Wait until disease progresses to a severe state	Patient education regarding safety of epinephrine, Needle- free, pain-free device	
Availability	Epinephrine not available in public locations due to injection related risks	Needle-free; intuitive to use devices	

 Table 2: Unmet Needs and Product Attributes to Address

As a result of these limitations, a significant proportion of the approximate 40 million patients at risk of severe Type I allergic reactions in the United States do not receive or fill prescriptions for intramuscular injection products, such as EpiPen or generic equivalents. Of the 3.3 million patients who fill their prescriptions in the US, fewer than half carry the intramuscular injectable products with them on a regular basis, while many of the other half delay treatment during a severe type I allergic reaction (Brooks-2017; Fleming-2015). This hesitancy results in the prolonging troublesome symptoms and an increased risk of progression of the reaction to anaphylaxis, including possible long-term comorbidities or even death (Warren-2018).

Therefore, there is a significant unmet need to address these issues as many patients and caregivers are unwilling to use a needle-bearing device. *neffy* has the potential to address many of these unmet medical needs as needle-free option to current injection devices (Table 17).

1.5. Clinical Program

neffy's clinical development program is centered on:

- 1. Bracket approach: the rationale that a single dose of *neffy* has a pharmacokinetic profile that is similar to other injection products and bracketed by EpiPen 0.3 mg and Epinephrine 0.3 mg IM (discussed in Sections 1.5.1, 4.1 and 4.2) with other approved injection devices also within this bracket; and
- 2. The use of pharmacodynamic data as a surrogate for efficacy (discussed in Sections 1.5.2 and 4.3);
- 3. With repeat dose of *neffy* a pharmacokinetic profile greater than injection products is warranted given the more serious nature of the disease including hypotension. *neffy* is dose proportional with repeat dosing and between doses, while injection products have been proven to not be dose proportional.

1.5.1. Bracket Approach for Pharmacokinetics

Approved epinephrine injection products have been shown to be highly variable from study to study (Figure 4) (Lockey-2022, Turner-2022) with a median T_{max} values ranging from 5 to 60 minutes and mean maximum concentration (C_{max}) values ranging from 209 to 869 pg/mL (Table 3). The pharmacokinetic variability observed across the injection products is likely driven by multiple factors including the type of device used, needle length, force of injection, location of injection, and injection technique (Section 4.1).

In fact, EpiPen itself is highly variable and results from multiple studies since 2012 using modern bioanalytical techniques demonstrate a wide range of results across studies. *neffy* 2 mg is bracketed by these results and more consistent across studies then EpiPen (Appendix 1).

ARS initiated the development program with *neffy* 1 mg, which was similar to IM injection (needle and syringe) and bioequivalent in at least one early study. ARS later decided to increase the *neffy* dose to 2 mg and discussed this with FDA given the wide range of pharmacokinetics observed with out of hospital use autoinjectors being revealed in ARS and other published studies (Appendix 1). FDA and ARS agreed at the time that the lower limit for epinephrine exposure with *neffy* 2 mg should result in a higher C_{max} and faster T_{max} as compared to the reference listed product IM adrenalin injection to ensure efficacious systemic exposures of epinephrine. At the same time, to ensure safety, FDA suggested that the upper limit of exposure based on C_{max} from *neffy* 2 mg after a first dose should not exceed that of EpiPen.

Thus, in agreement with FDA and as described above, a bracketing approach was used to demonstrate *neffy* would result in pharmacokinetics within the range of that known to be efficacious and safe on a first dose. I M injection (needle and syringe) was selected as the reference listed drug (RLD) for efficacy with *neffy* pharmacokinetics being greater and more rapid than IM. EpiPen, while highly variable from study to study (Appendix 1), exhibits the highest exposures and most rapid T_{max} and was used as the upper reference in the bracket to ensure epinephrine exposures were in a safe range (Table 4). While overall AUC_{0-t} is not considered an important factor for efficacy, FDA requested that ARS include dosing with the approved safe 0.5 mg IM injection dose as an upper bracket to confirm safety.





Treatment*	Source	N	Mean Study C _{max} (pg/mL)	Median or Mean Study T _{max} (min)	Study T _{max} Range (min) in individuals
Epinephrine 0.3 mg	Literature	200	209 - 489	30 - 60	3 - 120
IM	ARS*	223	244 - 339	45	3.9 - 360
Symjepi 0.3 mg	ARS*	36	438	30	4 - 90
Auvi-Q 0.3 mg**	Literature	67	486	20	5 - 60
E-:D 0.2	Literature	311	288 - 869	5-40	1 -120
Epiren 0.5 mg	ARS*	113	375 - 753	7.5 - 24	2-154
Total Range			209 - 869	5 - 60	1-360

Table 3: PK Parameters Across Representative FDA Approved Injection Products

*ARS data = EPI 03, 04, 07, 12, 15, 16, and 17 Studies; **Baseline corrected

 Table 4: Bracket Approach for Pharmacokinetics (Based on First Dose Only)

Bracketing Criteria	Lower Bracket	Upper Bracket
C _{max} (primary)	0.3 mg IM	0.3 mg EpiPen
T _{max} (primary)	0.3 mg IM	0.3 mg EpiPen
pAUC0-20, 0-30, 0-45 (primary)	0.3 mg IM	0.3 mg EpiPen
AUC _{0-t} (secondary)		0.5 mg IM

1.5.2. Pharmacodynamic Data as a Surrogate for Efficacy

Randomized, controlled clinical studies of the treatment of patients at risk of anaphylaxis are generally considered unethical and/or impractical and no such comparative efficacy study with epinephrine has ever been conducted in patients at risk of serious allergic reactions and anaphylaxis.

On the other hand, epinephrine's MOA for the treatment of Type I allergic reactions and anaphylaxis is well understood and comes from direct systemic agonism of α - and β -adrenergic receptors, leading to a reversal of the pathological response to the histamine cascade caused by an antigen (Table 1).

Therefore, in collaboration with the FDA, pharmacodynamic (PD) endpoints were used as surrogate markers for efficacy, with the understanding that these endpoints (blood pressure and heart rate) are indicative of α - and β -adrenergic receptor activation and, consequently, clinical efficacy. Throughout the clinical development program, *neffy*'s efficacy and safety has been established based on a series of clinical studies in both healthy volunteers and patients with allergy. While studies were done in Type I allergy patients or healthy volunteers who were not having anaphylaxis, there is no scientific reason that receptor binding would change during anaphylaxis and thus these studies are considered predictive of efficacy.

1.5.3. Evaluation of Various Dosing Conditions

Because both ethical and practical limitations preclude the conduct of clinical trials in patients experiencing severe allergic reactions and anaphylaxis. Therefore, ARS conducted a GLP study using a dog anaphylaxis model to assess absorption during acute anaphylaxis. Further, ARS conducted two clinical trials to assess the pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of *neffy* 2 mg in subjects with allergic rhinitis (EPI 16) and upper respiratory tract infections (EPI 14) in order to evaluate the effect of nasal edema and congestion on the absorption of epinephrine administered via *neffy* 2 mg. Two additional studies, EPI 04 (NAC rhinitis) and EPI JP01 (Pollen induced rhinitis), were also conducted with *neffy* 1 mg dose as supportive but are not reported in detail in this summary.

1.6. Integrated Pharmacokinetic and Pharmacodynamic Analysis

The primary *neffy* 2 mg and supportive *neffy* 1 mg studies conducted to support approval are summarized in Table 5. ARS started the development program with *neffy* 1 mg, which exhibited similar pharmacokinetics to 0.3 mg IM injection. Subsequently, given the PK range of FDA approved community-use injection products, ARS decided to increase the dose to 2 mg considering its out of hospital use. A summary of key PK and PD findings from an integrated PK and PD analysis is presented below (Section 1.6.1), with an in-depth discussion of the comparative PK and PD results presented in Section 5.

Table 5: Summary of Primary (*neffy* 2 mg) and Supportive (*neffy* 1 mg) ClinicalPharmacology Studies (abbreviated)

Neffy Dose	Study No.	Patient Population				
	EPI 15	Adult: Healthy volunteer				
neffy 2 mg	EPI 16	Adult: Type I allergy patients (NAC induced rhinitis)				
(primary)	EPI 17	Adult: Type I allergy patients with self-administration				
	EPI 10	Pediatric: Type I allergy patients ≥ 30 kg				
	EPI 03	Adult: Healthy volunteer				
	EPI 04	Adult: Type I allergy patients (NAC induced rhinitis)				
<i>neffy</i> I mg	EPI 07	Adult: Healthy volunteer				
(supportive)	EPI 12	Adult: Type I allergy patients with self-administration				
	EPI JP01	Adult: Type I allergy patients (Pollen induced rhinitis)				

Additionally, Population Pharmacokinetic assessments (POP PK) and Physiologically Based Absorption Model (PBAM) were conducted. The PBAM modeling is a more advanced method of modeling both PK and PD effects of drugs that considers data from clinical studies as well as hundreds of physiological and metabolic factors in humans. This PBAM model was developed specifically for *neffy* as the first known specific model to replicate nasal absorption at the University of Florida.

Ongoing studies include the EPI 10 clinical trial in Type I allergy patients 15 kg to <30 kg body weight as well as two Phase 2 studies in patients with urticaria and asthma patients.

This integrated analysis presents the pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of 1 mg and 2 mg doses of *neffy* relative to both manual IM injection and EpiPen using data from five randomized, open-label, single-dose phase 1 trials (EPI 03, EPI 04, EPI 07, EPI 15, and EPI 16).

1.6.1. Integrated Pharmacokinetics Results

When administered once, the pharmacokinetic profile of *neffy* 2 mg was bracketed by approved injection products. *neffy* demonstrated greater and more rapid exposure compared to Epinephrine 0.3 mg IM (the basis for efficacy) and a lower C_{max} and more controlled absorption relative to EpiPen (the upper limit for safety) (Figure 5).

When administered twice, *neffy* resulted in a dose proportional increase in epinephrine concentrations (Figure 6). *neffy's* dose proportionality may be particularly advantageous during more severe Type 1 allergic reactions, when a second dose is necessary to achieve an acceptable therapeutic effect. Data in multiple studies on twice dosing with both manual IM injection of epinephrine (needle and syringe) and EpiPen does not result in dose proportional increase in exposures and is only about 30-60% more than a single dose across all studies. This phenomenon may be caused by epinephrine's effect in increasing the blood flow into the skeletal muscle in the thigh that is more prominent following the first injection by IM injection (Tanimoto-2022).





		Cmax	T _{max}	pAUC ₀₋₂₀	pAUC ₀₋₄₅	AUC _{0-t}			
Product	N	(pg/mL) Mean (CV%)	(pg/mL) (minutes) Mean Median (CV%) (range)		(min*pg/mL) Mean (CV%)				
Epi 0.3 mg IM	178	277 (65)	45 (4-360)	2090 (86)	6290 (61)	27900 (39)			
<i>neffy</i> 2 mg (self- administration)*	42	421 (66)	30 (6-240)	2964 (71)	10545 (63)	46776 (56)			
neffy 2 mg	78	485 (71)	20.5 (2-150)	3610 (84)	11000 (76)	40900 (68)			
EpiPen 0.3 mg	77	581 (76)	10 (2-45)	5640 (73)	12000 (53)	31600 (39)			

Table 6: Pharmacokinetic Parameters of Single dosing, by Treatment (Bracketing)

* EPI 17 Study; Note: mean AUC0-t of Epinephrine 0.5 mg was 43700 min*pg/mL

Table 7:	Pharmacokinetic	Parameters	of Twice	Dosing, k	oy Treatment
----------	-----------------	------------	----------	-----------	--------------

Treatment	N	Cmax (pg/mL)	pAUC0-20 (min*pg/mL)	pAUC0-45 (min*pg/mL)	AUC _{0-t} (min*pg/mL)	t _{max} (min)
			Mean	(%CV)		median (range)
<i>neffy</i> 2 mg twice (L/R)	39	1000 (93)	5430 (99)	22000 (97)	86000 (77)	30 (6 -150)
<i>neffy</i> 2 mg twice (R/R)	39	992 (75)	5610 (94)	22500 (82)	86500 (61)	30 (4 - 150)
Epinephrine 0.3 mg IM twice (L/R)	70	436 (49)	2750 (83)	9610 (59)	47500 (33)	45 (6 – 180)
EpiPen 0.3 mg twice (L/R)	78	754 (65)	6930 (77)	18300 (54)	55000 (48)	20 (4 - 360)

Figure 6: PK Dose Proportionality Based on Mean Cmax



1.6.2. Integrated Pharmacodynamics Results

In general, *neffy* 2 mg dosed once resulted in pharmacodynamics responses that were comparable to or better than injection products (Figure 7). Changes and absolute values of blood pressure and heart rate were within normal physiologic levels as observed during daily activities such as exercise or climbing several flights of stairs. Change from baseline for systolic blood pressure and heart rate were similar (not significantly different) from EpiPen, but generally statistically greater than 0.3 mg IM injection. For diastolic blood pressure there was a greater drop after EpiPen or IM injection than with intranasal administration due to the direct to systemic route of administration (i.e., similar to intravenous infusion) (Tanimoto-2022).

With twice dosing of *neffy* 2 mg (Figure 8) pharmacodynamic responses were generally statistically greater for systolic blood pressure increase as compared to EpiPen and IM injection. This greater mean increase in systolic blood pressure is likely due to the fact that the pharmacokinetics of injection products are not dose proportional and the significant drop in diastolic blood pressure that suppresses the increase in systolic blood pressure. However, given that when a second dose is needed the reaction is generally more severe and the patient is more likely hypotensive due to vasodilation from histamine and other mediators, *neffy*'s greater increase in systolic blood pressure is generally considered beneficial. Changes in heart rate were similar to EpiPen (not significantly different) but greater than IM injection.



Figure 7: Single Dose: Mean Change from Baseline PD vs Time and Box Plots



Figure 8: Twice Dosing: Mean Change from Baseline PD vs Time and Box Plots

1.6.2.1. Differences in Pharmacodynamic Response by Route

The pharmacodynamic results were mostly comparable between *neffy* and EpiPen despite the higher and faster pharmacokinetic profile of EpiPen. The greater drop in the DBP following IM injection products may be attributed to direct epinephrine injection into the skeletal muscle in the thigh. β_2 adrenergic receptors promote vasodilation in the skeletal muscle, causing a decrease in peripheral vascular resistance and increased blood flow to skeletal muscle, ultimately resulting in a decrease in DBP (Westfall-2011), which may occur by direct injection into the thigh (100% epinephrine in the thigh) than the routes avoiding injection into the thigh. (Tanimoto-2022) (Section 5.2.3 for detail explanation). This drop in DBP after initial IM injection of epinephrine suppresses the increase in SBP and in theory may be negative in persons with significant hypotension.

1.6.3. Pediatric Pharmacokinetics and Pharmacodynamic Results

The pharmacokinetic results of the interim analysis (Table 8) demonstrate that in children \geq 30 kg, *neffy* 2 mg results in epinephrine absorption that is comparable-to-slightly higher than what is observed in adults. This was further supported by simulations based on the PBAM and POP PK models. Epinephrine levels between the 1 (previous dose) and 2 mg doses in children \geq 30 mg appear to be dose proportional.

 Table 8: Summary Statistics of Epinephrine Pediatric Pharmacokinetic Parameters by Treatment

Product	N	Mean C _{max} (pg/mL) (CV%)	Median t _{max} (minutes) (range)	pAUC ₀₋₂₀ (min*pg/mL) Mean (CV%)	pAUC ₀₋₄₅ (min*pg/mL) Mean (CV%)	AUC _{0-t} (min*pg/mL) Mean
neffy 1.0 mg Children ≥ 30 kg (previous dose)	25	253 (66)	20 (8-120)	2570 (78)	5960 (52)	14000 (53)
neffy 2.0 mg Children ≥ 30 kg	16	540 (71)	25 (3-120)	4140 (78)	13500 (76)	35500 (76)
neffy 2.0 mg Adults (Integrated)	78	485 (71)	21 (2-150)	3610 (84)	11000 (76)	40900 (68)

1.6.4. Evaluation of Various Dosing Conditions

Since both ethical and practical limitations preclude the conduct of clinical trials in patients experiencing severe allergic reactions and anaphylaxis ARS conducted a GLP study using a dog anaphylaxis model to assess absorption during acute anaphylaxis. Furthermore, ARS conducted two clinical trials to assess the pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of *neffy* 2 mg in subjects with allergic rhinitis (EPI 16) and upper respiratory tract infections (EPI 14) in order to evaluate the effect of nasal edema and congestion on the absorption of epinephrine administered via *neffy* 2 mg.

1.6.4.1. Effect of Hypotension during Anaphylaxis (GLP Dog Anaphylaxis Model)

A GLP study using a dog anaphylaxis model was conducted to evaluate the pharmacokinetics of *neffy* in anesthetized beagle dogs under both normal conditions and Tween 80-induced anaphylaxis conditions. A total of 14 dogs (10 males and 4 females) were dosed with *neffy* 1 mg under normal conditions, followed by *neffy* 1 mg under anaphylaxis conditions. All dogs showed signs of allergic reaction/anaphylaxis following administration of Tween 80.

Absorption during an anaphylactic reaction with severe hypotension $(61\pm10/39\pm7 \text{ mmHg})$ was confirmed to be at least as good as when the dogs were in a normal state.





1.6.4.2. Effect of Allergic Rhinitis (EPI 16)

EPI 16 was conducted to evaluate the comparative bioavailability of *neffy* 2 mg with and without induced allergic rhinitis by nasal allergen challenge (NAC) relative to Epinephrine 0.3 mg IM. EPI 16 was conducted under worst case dosing conditions with *neffy* administered immediately after NAC induction when symptoms of congestion and rhinorrhea were greatest.

EPI 16 utilized the Total Nasal Symptom Score (TNSS) questionnaire to evaluate the nasal symptoms per FDA's guideline (Allergic Rhinitis: Developing Drug Products for Treatment Guidance for Industry). *neffy* 2 mg was administered immediately after rhinitis was induced when symptoms such as congestion and rhinorrhea were most significant.

The criteria for subjects to be dosed with *neffy* 2 mg in the EPI 16 clinical study was that they had to have a TNSS of ≥ 5 out of 12 and a congestion score of ≥ 2 out of 3 for at least one allergen

during the screening challenge. There were 30 of the 34 subjects who reported positive symptoms of rhinorrhea (runny nose) based on the TNSS scoring after NAC induction and before dosing of *neffy* 2 mg.

Pharmacokinetic Results

Relative to normal nasal conditions, allergic rhinitis resulted in a more rapid (T_{max}) absorption of epinephrine (Figure 10 and Table 9), presumably due to increased permeability which was observed in the anaphylaxis dog model (Section 1.6.4.1) and also is reported in the literature (Tuttle-2020). The T_{max} with *neffy* 2 mg with rhinitis was 7 minutes as compared 20 minutes in the normal nasal state. T_{max} with *neffy* 2 mg with rhinitis was also significantly more rapid than IM epinephrine injection (7 min vs. 45 min, p<0.0001).

At the same time, *neffy* 2 mg with rhinitis resulted in more rapid clearance (i.e., lower C_{max} and overall AUC_{0-t}) compared to normal nasal conditions, which may be due to rhinitis symptoms such as associated rhinorrhea (i.e., more rapid nasal fluid flow resulting in increased clearance of drug from the nasal mucosa). Rhinorrhea was observed in most of the subjects (30 of 34 subjects in the rhinitis group). While the C_{max} was lower with rhinitis as compared to that with *neffy* 2 mg in the normal nasal state, the maximum exposure (C_{max}) with rhinitis was still comparable to IM Epinephrine 0.3 mg (Cmax 303 vs 259 pg/mL, p>0.05).

Figure 10: Plasma Concentration vs Time Profiles of Epinephrine in neffy Subjects with Rhinitis and Normal Nasal Conditions (EPI 16)



Treatment	N	T _{max} (min) median (range)	C _{max} (pg/mL) mean (%CV)	AUC _{last} (min*pg/mL) mean (%CV)
neffy 2.0 mg	36	20 <mark>(</mark> 2 – 120)	491 (65.2)	37100 (66.1)
<i>neffy</i> 2.0 mg with rhinitis	34	7 (2-90)*	303 (67.7)	23300 (69.0)
Epinephrine 0.3 mg IM	35	45 (4 - 360)	259 (61.7)	26000 (41.9)

Table 9: Pharmacokinetic Parameters, by Treatment (EPI 16)

*neffy 2.0 mg with rhinitis vs. Epinephrine 0.3 mg IM: tmax (p<0.0001) : Cmax and AUClast were not statistically different

As see in Table 10 below, *neffy* 2 mg with rhinitis results in epinephrine exposures that are significantly greater then IM injection from 2 minutes after administration (first time point) and through the first 30 minutes followed by comparable exposures.

				pAU	UC (min*pg/m	L)		
Treatment	N	AUC _{0-2min}	AUC _{0-4min}	AUC _{0-6min}	AUC _{0-8min}	AUC _{0-10min}	AUC ₀₋ 12.5min	AUC ₀₋ 15min
Treatment ARS-1 2.0 mg ARS-1 2.0 mg with rhinitis Epinephrine IM 0.3 mg Treatment ARS-1 2.0 mg ARS-1 2.0 mg		mean (%CV)	mean (%CV)	mean (%CV)	mean (%CV)	mean (%CV)	mean (%CV)	mean (%CV)
ARS-1 2.0 mg	36	77.1 (83.4)	201 (81.0)	391 (81.9)	688 (90.5)	1060 (92.8)	1630 (85.6)	2270 (83.5)
ARS-1 2.0 mg with rhinitis	34	212* (78.9)	569* (69.1)	922* (60.1)	1270* (58.0)	1610* (57.8)	2050* (56.4)	2460* (58.7)
Epinephrine IM 0.3 mg	35	68.5 (69.6)	211 (69.7)	439 (78.7)	700 (82.7)	966 (79.8)	1290 (77.4)	1610 (77.7)
				pAU	UC (min*pg/m	L)		
Treatment	N	AUC0-20min	AUC _{0-30min}	pAU AUC0-45min	UC (min*pg/m AUC0-60min	L) AUC0-120min	AUC _{0-6h}	AUC _{1-6h}
Treatment	N	AUC0-20min mean (%CV)	AUC0-30min mean (%CV)	pAU AUC0-45min mean (%CV)	IC (min*pg/m AUC0-60min mean (%CV)	L) AUC0-120min mean (%CV)	AUC _{0-6h} mean (%CV)	AUC _{1-6h} mean (%CV)
Treatment ARS-1 2.0 mg	N 36	AUC0-20min mean (%CV) 3630 (78.7)	AUC _{0-30min} mean (%CV) 6400 (67.1)	pAU AUC0-45min mean (%CV) 10200 (62.4)	C (min*pg/m AUC _{0-60min} mean (%CV) 13400 (62.1)	L) AUC0-120min mean (%CV) 22200 (65.7)	AUC _{0-6h} mean (%CV) 38700 (62.2)	AUC1-6h mean (%CV) 25000 (76.8)
Treatment ARS-1 2.0 mg ARS-1 2.0 mg with rhinitis	N 36 34	AUC0-20min mean (%CV) 3630 (78.7) 3200* (65.9)	AUC0-30min mean (%CV) 6400 (67.1) 4400* (70.9)	pAU AUC0-45min mean (%CV) 10200 (62.4) 5970 (72.9)	UC (min*pg/m AUC0-60min mean (%CV) 13400 (62.1) 7500 (76.4)	L) AUC0-120min mean (%CV) 22200 (65.7) 12400 (77.7)	AUC _{0-6h} mean (%CV) 38700 (62.2) 24000 (66.0)	AUC1-6h mean (%CV) 25000 (76.8) 16500 (64.8)

Table 10: Partial AUC Results (EPI 16)

* neffy 2.0 mg with rhinitis vs. Epinephrine 0.3 mg IM: pAUC 2 to 20 min (p<0.01), 30 min (p<0.05)

If evaluating PK results based on absolute concentrations (Table 11), the concentration of epinephrine after administration of *neffy* 2 mg with rhinitis is greater than IM injection after the first time point at 2 minutes and through 20 minutes after dosing where the concentration are similar and not significantly different. *neffy* 2 mg with rhinitis was statistically greater than IM injection at the 2 and 4 minute time points after dosing.

Treatment	N	t _{max} (min) median	C _{max} (pg/mL) Mean	Еріг	ephrine (Concentra mean (tion at Ea (%CV)	ch Time F	oint
		(range)	(%CV)	2 min	4 min	6 min	10 min	15 min	20 min
ARS-1 2.0 mg	36	20.0 (2-120)	491 (65.2)	54 (95)	70 (88)	121 (113)	195 (97)	262 (103)	279 (82)
ARS-1 2.0 mg with rhinitis	34	7.00 (2-90)	303 (67.7)	194* (85)	179* (56)	184 (68)	172 (74)	163 (109)	133 (100)
Epinephrine IM 0.3 mg	35	45.0 (4-360)	259 (61.7)	51 (84)	106 (86)	147 (99)	149 (75)	144 (95)	157 (93)

Table 11:	Summarv	Statistics of	Epine	phrine	Cmax By	v Time	Point	Results	(EPI)	16)
THOSE TTO	~ anna j		-pine	P m me	Cillar D	,		1 COMING		. .,

* neffy 2.0 mg with rhinitis vs. Epinephrine 0.3 mg IM: 2 to 4 min (p<0.01); 6 to 20 min were no significantly different

Clinical effect with epinephrine is observed within 5 to 10 minutes after administration of IM injection with approximately 90% of all events resolving with a single dose and only approximately 10% requiring a second administration to resolve symptoms (Patel-2021). The need for a second dose is also related to severity of the event and if epinephrine administration was delayed (Hochstadter-2016, Patel-2021), and thus with prompt administration after symptoms are detected the need for a second dose may be further reduced. Prescribing guidelines (Shaker-2020) are clear that administration of a second dose of epinephrine should occur if response is not observed in 5 to 10 minutes.

Thus, *neffy* 2 mg even with NAC induced rhinitis will give greater or similar exposure of epinephrine on a first dose than IM injection through the first 45 minutes based on partial exposures (AUC) and through the first 20 minutes based on absolute concentration. If a second dose of epinephrine is administered with either *neffy* 2 mg or IM injection, the additional administration would occur before IM injection reaches peak concentration ($t_{max} = 45$ minutes) and in the time frame where *neffy* 2 mg has overall higher exposures compared to IM through at least 20 minutes. Therefore, even more rapid clearance of the drug from the nasal mucosa that may occur from rhinorrhea during allergic rhinitis, is not anticipated to result in any clinically meaningful difference in effectiveness relative to IM injection of epinephrine. If effect is not observed in the first 5 to 10 minutes, a second dose would be given per dosing guidelines. The second dose would likely have absorption more similar to dosing with normal nasal conditions given the known effect of epinephrine to rapidly reverse nasal congestion and rhinorrhea (Macmillan-2022).

Pharmacodynamic Results

The overall pharmacodynamic effect of *neffy* 2 mg with rhinitis was similar to both doses of IM Epinephrine (Figure 11 and Table 12).



Figure 11: EPI 15 PD Results: Box Plots

Table 12: Pharmacodynamic Parameters, by Nasal Condition

Treatment	N	E _{max} mean (%CV)			T _{Emax} median (range)		
		SBP (mmHg)	DBP (mmHg)	HR (bpm)	SBP (min)	DBP (min)	HR (min)
<i>neffy</i> 2 mg	36	20.8 (80.6)	10.0 (77.2)	18.5 (75.9)	26.0 (1.00- 120)	25.0 (1.00- 120)	25.0 (1.00- 178)
<i>neffy</i> 2 mg with rhinitis	34	15.0 (83.4)	7.24 (6.56)	11.0 (111)	19.0 (1.00- 120)	27.5 (1.00- 119)	9.00 (1.00- 119)
Epinephrine IM 0.3 mg	35	13.7 (71.1)	6.06 (128)	11.0 (70.6)	19.0 (1.00- 123)	15.0 (1.00- 123)	44.0 (2.00- 120)

1.6.4.2.1. Effect of Upper Respiratory Tract Infection (EPI 14)

EPI 14 was conducted to evaluate the comparative bioavailability of *neffy* 2 mg with and without nasal edema and congestion resulting from an upper respiratory tract infection (URTI). The preliminary results are summarized in Figure 12 and Table 13 based on plasma-concentration vs. time curves and mean change in systolic blood pressure over time and summary of PK parameters. These results support that there was an insignificant impact on the pharmacokinetic or pharmacodynamic results from *neffy* 2 mg with natural infectious rhinitis conditions caused by a cold, flu, sinus infection or other viral infections. This study further supports that the EPI 16 study, where subjects were administered *neffy* 2 mg immediately after NAC induction of rhinitis, may be worst case conditions and that less impact on absorption would be observed with normal rhinitis conditions.



Figure 12: Plasma Concentration and Systolic Blood Pressure Change vs. time (EPI 14)

1.6.5. Clinical Safety

Overall, in all *neffy* studies there were approximately 600 subjects and over 1120 doses of product with both once and twice dosing.

The safety of *neffy* after single dose from the primary 2 mg studies (EPI 15, EPI 16, and EPI 17) demonstrate that more than 96% of adverse events (AEs) were mild, and no adverse reactions seen in greater than 10% of the subjects in any treatment group. The most common events were

nasal discomfort (9.7%), headache (6.0%), rhinorrhea (3.0%) nausea (2.2%) throat irritation (1.5%) and dizziness (1.5%). A total of 3 moderate events were observed in 1 subject with *neffy* 2 mg, which included vomiting, dizziness, and heart rate decrease. Two severe events were only observed in 1 subject in the EPI 17 study in allergy patients and included syncope and hypotension. In comparison, in the same EPI 17 study, there were 2 subjects with 3 severe events after treatment with 0.3 mg IM injection that included one each of syncope, asthenia, and blood pressure decrease. There were no serious adverse events (SAEs) in any ARS trials with *neffy* or injection products.

Twice dosing in the ARS primary studies with *neffy* 2 mg giving a total dose of 4 mg epinephrine in 10 minutes, resulted in 100% of events being mild and expected for epinephrine. There were no moderate or severe events with *neffy* 2 mg given twice. There was 1 moderate event in 1 subject with 0.3 mg IM given twice, which was vomiting.

Overall, the safety profile of *neffy* 2 mg was benign with >95% of events being mild common events and all events similar to IM injection. There was no dose related increase in adverse events with repeated doses of *neffy* 2 mg up to 4 mg.

1.6.5.1. Pediatric Population (≥30 kg)

Support for approval in pediatric Type I allergy patients ≥ 30 kg is provided based on pharmacokinetic data for the 2 mg dose of *neffy* in the ongoing EPI 10 study. The EPI 10 interim analysis in this briefing document, and filed to the NDA, assessed pharmacokinetic data on 57 children with severe Type I allergies at two doses including 16 children ≥ 30 kg treated with 2 mg *neffy* and 26 children ≥ 30 kg treated with 1 mg *neffy* (previous dose). Safety data from the EPI 10 studies consists of 77 children. There were two moderate TEAEs (nasal discomfort and sneezing) following administration of *neffy* 2 mg in one subject ≥ 30 kg. All other TEAEs were considered mild, and none were serious, life-threatening, or resulted in death.

Currently, the EPI 10 study is complete with the full 21 subjects enrolled in the 30 kg or greater body weight group with *neffy* 2 mg. Further, ARS has completed 21 subjects in the 15 to <30 kg group with *neffy* 1 mg dose and a supplemental NDA application is planned to be file for this lower dose and lower weight population if current application is approved.

1.7. Benefits/Risk of *neffy*

The pharmacokinetic data from the clinical pharmacology studies demonstrate that a 2 mg dose of *neffy* provided exposures that are bracketed by currently approved injection products (higher and more rapid exposures compared to 0.3 mg dose of epinephrine delivered by intramuscular (IM) administration and lower exposures than EpiPen 0.3 mg). When administered twice, *neffy* resulted in a dose proportional increase in epinephrine concentrations.

The pharmacodynamic results were mostly comparable between *neffy* and EpiPen despite the slightly higher and faster pharmacokinetic profile of EpiPen (Appendix 1). While the mean

increases in SBP are greater than that observed with injection, the maximum change in SBP in any individual subject is similar between treatments and there were no indications that the more rapid and greater mean pharmacodynamic effect poses any safety risk to patients experiencing a severe systemic allergic reaction. More likely, the efficient mean pharmacodynamic response of *neffy* may represent a potential improved effect based on time to onset, peak response, and a higher proportion of people having a positive hemodynamic response rapidly after administration. This effect may be especially relevant when a second dose is needed due to a more severe event (e.g., hypotension) or due to delayed treatment.

The anaphylaxis dog model demonstrated that during anaphylaxis conditions there was no negative impact of hypotension and other related allergic conditions on absorption of epinephrine from the *neffy* formulation dose intranasally with the same UDS device. The EPI 16 clinical study with NAC induced allergic rhinitis (congestion and rhinorrhea) demonstrated that epinephrine absorption is more rapid and greater than IM injection for at least the first 15 to 20 minutes after administration, which is when the efficacy of single dose epinephrine is observed (within 5-10 minutes). There was no meaningful impact of congestion associated with upper respiratory tract infections in the EPI 14 study.

neffy demonstrated an acceptable safety profile with events that were mostly mild and comparable to that of injection products.

Taken together, *neffy* 2 mg after single administration demonstrated comparable pharmacokinetic, pharmacodynamic, and safety profile to that of injection products and therefore patients and caregiver would benefit from this easy-to-use and needle-free option when they need emergency treatment. Twice dosing with *neffy* 2 mg resulted in dose proportional epinephrine exposure and greater pharmacodynamic effect then twice dosing with injection product, which is appropriate given a second dose is generally needed due to more severe events. The many patients and caregivers who cannot accept use of a needle-bearing device currently have no other treatment options. *neffy* can potentially fill that unmet medical need.

2. BACKGROUND

2.1. Overview of Serious Allergic Reaction Including Anaphylaxis

Anaphylaxis is the most severe form of allergic reaction, or hypersensitivity reaction, is almost always unexpected, and can be life-threatening (Tang-2009). The pathophysiology of anaphylaxis is primarily attributable to antigen-specific immunoglobulin E (IgE) activation and the subsequent activation of mast cells and basophils, ultimately leading to widespread release of histamine and other inflammatory mediators (e.g., cytokines). This histamine release results in generalized vasodilation, elevated heart rate, and increased vascular permeability (Peavy-2008), potentially leading to cardiovascular collapse.

Type I allergic reactions are potentially life-threatening hypersensitivity reactions that can occur within minutes of exposure to an allergen and generally require immediate treatment to relieve

symptoms and prevent further progression. If not treated immediately, the reaction can progress to a more severe stage known as anaphylaxis that involves constriction of the airways, swelling of the throat, rapid heart rate, severe hypotension and other respiratory and cardiac symptoms that can develop and potentially present a life-threatening emergency.

The Incidence of all-cause anaphylaxis in the United States has increased by 70% from 2004 to 2016. In 2016, the incidence rate was 218 per 100,000 persons in a patient population that was approximately 75% adults (Chaaban-2019).

Delay in treatment may result in death by airway obstruction or vascular collapse (Joint Task Force on Practice Parameters-2015). Overall rate of mortality from anaphylaxis in the United States is between 186 to 225 deaths per year (Ma 2013; Jerschow 2014). The vast majority of these deaths are persons that did not have epinephrine available at the time of the event or were not treated with epinephrine prior to emergency medical personnel could arrive (Poirot 2020).

2.2. Epinephrine's Mechanism of Action

Epinephrine is a non-specific adrenergic agonist that is the drug of choice for the treatment of severe allergic reactions and anaphylaxis. Its therapeutic efficacy comes from its direct agonism of α and β adrenergic receptors leading to a reversal of the pathological response to the histamine cascade.

2.2.1. Representative Epinephrine Receptor Activity

Immediate administration of epinephrine is currently the first-line treatment for severe Type I allergic reactions (Shaker-2020) including anaphylaxis. Epinephrine's MOA for the treatment of Type I allergic reactions and anaphylaxis is generally well understood and comes from direct systemic agonism of α - and β -adrenergic receptors, leading to a reversal of the pathological response to the histamine cascade caused by an antigen (Table 13).
Adrenergic Receptor	Pharmacological Effect of Agonism by Epinephrine	Clinical Effect of Agonism by Epinephrine
α1	 Increases blood pressure Decreases mucosal edema 	Relieves hypotension and shockRelieves upper airway obstruction
β1	• Increases blood pressure and heart rate	Relieves hypotension and shock
β2	 Relaxation of bronchial smooth muscles Vasodilation in skeletal vasculature Inhibits inflammatory mediator release from mast cells and basophils 	 Increase in bronchial airway Increases blood flow to skeletal muscle Reverses pathological histamine cascade

Table 13: Main Pharmacologic Effects of Epinephrine

The clinically observed responses of presenting anaphylaxis symptoms to initial epinephrine therapy include improved breathing, reduction in oedema, and reversal of rash, flushing and urticaria (Lindbeck-1995). These symptoms are easily observed by both patients and/or their caregivers, allowing for decisions regarding the need for a second dose (5 to 15 minutes following the initial dose, as per the epinephrine labeling). The response of these initial symptoms to epinephrine treatment is primarily attributable to the β_2 agonism described above and are the first effects observed given β_2 receptors high affinity for epinephrine.

Activation of β_2 receptors (which are located in the vessels of the skeletal muscles) can also result in vasodilation. Vasodilation decreases peripheral vascular resistance, resulting in increased blood flow to skeletal muscle. Diastolic blood pressure (DBP) can initially decrease after administration of epinephrine as a result of this increased blood flow, which may suppress SBP as well. However, as epinephrine plasma levels increase the α_1 receptor agonism increases and initiates a vasoconstrictive response that opposes the β_2 -mediated vasodilation, ultimately resulting in an increase in blood pressure (Westfall-2011).

Epinephrine's ability to activate β_2 receptors explains why it is ideally suited for the treatment of anaphylaxis, while, in contrast, norepinephrine's lack of β_2 receptor stimulation makes it a more optimal drug to support blood pressure in shock, but less-than-ideal for the treatment of anaphylaxis.

2.2.2. Early Intervention with Epinephrine is Critical

Symptoms of a Type I allergic reaction (Figure 13) are often variable and it can be difficult to predict severity and rate of progression of an episode. Because the clinical course of anaphylaxis can be unpredictable, prompt, and early use of epinephrine should be considered even with mild

symptoms or single-system involvement (Shaker-2020). In the absence of clinical improvement, guidelines for the treatment of anaphylaxis recommend administering repeated doses of epinephrine every 5 to 15 minutes.



Figure 13: Early Intervention with Epinephrine – Time is Critical

1. Emergency treatment of anaphylactic reactions guidelines for healthcare providers. Resuscitation Council (UK) 2016 2. JF Philips et al. Allergy Asthma Proc (2011) 3. JT Heming et al. J Allergy Clin Immunol Pract (2014) 4. E. Andrew et al. Prehospital Emergency Care (2018) 5. ARS market research 6. Liu 2020

2.3. Current Treatment Options

Epinephrine has been used for multiple indications for over 100 years and was approved for use in the US in 1939 for treatment of septic shock. The use of epinephrine for the treatment of anaphylaxis was first reported in the 1960s and was based on empiric observation and expert opinion (Simons-2006, Upton-2014). Epinephrine is the only first-line treatment for anaphylaxis and there are no absolute contraindications to its use.

There are several routes of epinephrine administration used for the treatment of severe allergic reactions and anaphylaxis including intravenous (IV) infusion, IV bolus, intramuscular (IM), and subcutaneous (SC) administration. While there are limited published pharmacokinetic (PK) data on these routes of administration in the literature, extensive clinical experiences support the safe and effective use of all approved routes of administration in the treatment of severe allergies including anaphylaxis. The US FDA has approved intramuscular and subcutaneous epinephrine injection and epinephrine autoinjectors including EpiPen Jr[®], Auvi-Q[®], Adrenaclick[®], SymjepiTM, and generic epinephrine autoinjectors (Table 14). With exception of Auvi-Q, there were no clinical trials, nor PK studies, conducted to support approval of currently approved community use injection products and all were based on the observed efficacy of IM injection (needle & syringe) used in clinical settings. More recently it has been established that the

different autoinjector products and manual IM injection with needle and syringe, all have very different pharmacokinetic profiles. Despite these differences the efficacy and clinical outcomes of such epinephrine products have been acceptable. All approved products in the treatment of severe allergic reactions including anaphylaxis are used interchangeably with same guidance–immediately dose and wait 5 to 15 minutes to observe clinical response, then give a second dose if no response.

Device (Approved)	Approval Basis	Pharmacokinetics (any data including literature)
EpiPen (1987)	No Clinical or PK Data	Significant differences (EpiPen vs. IM) only known in past ~10 yrs Significant blood vessel injection risk (IV bolus) only known last 5 yrs
Twinject (2003)	No Clinical or PK Data	No PK data known to date
Adrenaclick (2003)	No Clinical or PK Data	No PK data known to date
Auvi-Q (2012)	Single PK Study vs. EpiPen	More rapid PK vs. IM, but slower PK vs. EpiPen (t _{max} = 20 min vs. 10 min)
Symjepi (2017)	No Clinical or PK Data	ARS studies show slower PK vs. <i>neffy</i> or other autoinjectors
Teva Generic EpiPen (2018)	No Clinical or PK Data	None to date; shorter needle and different activation force

2.3.1. Dosages

Dosing in a community setting with auto-injectors or prefilled syringes is typically 0.3 mg injection for all persons 30 kg (0.01 mg/kg) and above. For children aged 6 years and older, with body weight of \geq 15 kg, a 0.15 mg auto-injector dose is available for community use.

2.3.2. Efficacy of IM injection and EpiPen are Equivalent in Practice

While controlled clinical trials have not been conducted with various epinephrine injection products, several studies have evaluated efficacy based on resolution of the allergic event after a single dose and the frequency with which a second dose was needed. Among the 21 studies that reported about second dose of epinephrine (Kahveci-2020, Oya-2020, Kondo-2018, Cardona-2017, Oren-2007, De Swert-2008, Johnson-2014, Nogic-2016, Grabenhenrich-2018, Campbell-2015b, Lee-2015, Ben Shoshan-2013, Soller-2019, White-2015, Arkwright-2009, Gold-2000,

Webb-2006, Noimark-2012, Cardona-2020) the weighted average for the rate of second injections from studies in which there was 100% use of one product shows that there was a slightly higher rate of second injections when EAIs were the predominant injection product (Table 15). Overall, there did not appear to be any relationship between the need for a second dose and the type of injection product used for the initial treatment ($r^2 = 0.0818$) (Figure 14).

Table 15: Weighted Average of Second Doses by Product, Based on Studies 100% Use of Either IM Needle/Syringe or Epinephrine Autoinjector

Product	Absolute Number of Events	Percent of Patients Requiring a Second Dose
Autoinjector	799	10.9
IM Needle/Syringe	570	9.3

Figure 14: Relationship Between the Use of IM Epinephrine vs. Autoinjector on Frequency of Second Dose



% requiring two or more doses of epinephrine

2.4. Unmet Medical Need

The importance of early epinephrine treatment has been emphasized in the literature, guidelines, and FDA approved product labeling (Fleming-2015, Sicherer-2017, Shaker 2020, Muraro-2021) for treatment of Type I allergic reactions and anaphylaxis.

It has been reported that delayed use of epinephrine has been associated with the following outcomes (Patel-2021; EpiPen Package Insert-2020; Hochstadter-2016; Andrew-2018; Liu-2020; Fleming-2015; Turner-2017).

- Increased epinephrine requirement to control anaphylaxis symptoms (OR = 5.0)
- Abnormal vital signs heat rate, systolic blood pressure, respiratory rate (p<0.001)
- Biphasic anaphylaxis (OR = 3.4)
- Risk factor for hospitalization (HR = 4.0)
- Fatality

However, the Asthma and Allergy Foundation of America has reported that 72% of parents did not administer epinephrine to their child, even when they knew the child was experiencing a severe allergic reaction (Asthma and Allergy Foundation of America-2019). Noimark et al (Noimark-2012) reported that on a cohort of 969 pediatric allergy patients and found that 245 patients (25%) met the criteria for anaphylaxis over the course of one year. Of those 245 patients, 204 (83%) failed to treat the episode with epinephrine. When considering patients who present to the emergency department, it has been reported that one-third of patients do not receive epinephrine prior to presenting to the emergency department, even when their severe allergic reaction progressed to anaphylaxis (Brooks-2017, Fleming-2015).

The reasons for delayed epinephrine are primarily driven by fear of the needle (needle phobia), concerns about safety, complexity of the device and concerns about having to go to the emergency room (ER) after dosing, often resulting in hesitancy to use the devices, delayed treatment, and an increased risk of serious complications and hospitalizations (Sampson-1992; Søreide-1988; Pumphrey-2000, Casale-2022). Prince et al (Prince-2018) explored the barriers to epinephrine use by patients and caregivers which included fear of the needle injection, failure to carry the EAI, failure to recognize allergic reactions, lack of proper training regarding how to use EAIs and cost. Misconceptions included a belief that epinephrine should not be used in patients with a history of cardiovascular disease, a belief that EIAs cannot be used in infants, a belief that EAIs are harmful, and a belief that one must go to the emergency department following epinephrine use, which is implied in current product labeling. Uncertainty regarding whether or not the reaction was severe enough to warrant treatment and/or a belief that epinephrine was not necessary being among the most commonly cited reasons (Asthma and Allergy Foundation of America-2019, Noimark-2012, Warren-2018). Other cited reasons for delayed epinephrine administration included fear of a "bad outcome or death" (Chad-2013); a failure to recognize the allergic reaction, epinephrine was unavailable (Fleischer-2012); and uncertainty regarding how to use EAIs (Warren-2018). The most common concerns contributing to not having epinephrine present at all or dosing delays in an allergy emergency are listed in Table 16.

Reasons for delaying	or not administering epinephrine	Product attributes needed
Never filling prescription	Of the 5.5 million prescriptions written approximately 43% are never filled (Cohen 2021, IQVIA Claims Data 2022) primarily due to needle-phobia, portability and complexity of the devices.	Smaller, needle-free, pain- free, easier to use devices
Lack of carriage	Due to their large size, injection devices typically lack ease of portability with less than 50% of patients and caregivers reporting that they are carrying one device when an allergic reaction occurred, <10% carry two devices (Warren-2018)	Smaller more portable devices
Fear of the needle	Needle phobia is the primary cause for failure to administer (25%-50% of events) or delayed treatment (until more severe and up to 18 minutes in studies) with epinephrine when needed (Noimark-2012; Fleming-2015; Brooks-2017)	Needle-free, pain-free
Concerns about safety	Injection products are associated with a range of safety concerns, including lacerations, injection into the bone, injection into blood vessels (IV bolus administration) and accidental patient or caregiver self-injection into an extremity (e.g., hand) (Anshien-2019; Guerlain-2011; ARS clinical studies; El Turki-2017; Moss-2018; FDA- 2015; 2017; 2020; 2022; Brown-2016; Kim-2017, Ebisawa-2022). Additionally, there are reports of frequent and potentially cardiotoxic blood vessel injections, which occurred in approximately 14% of EpiPen subjects (N = 162) based on ARS clinical trials (Lockey-2022).	Needle-free, Patient education
Complex administration	23 to 35% error rate after training; Multiple device reliability recalls/warnings by FDA (El Turki-2017; FDA-2015; 2017; 2020; 2022)	Easy to use device, Rapid to administer, intuitive to use devices, Reliable
Uncertainty if symptoms warrant use	Wait until disease progresses to a severe state	Patient education regarding safety of epinephrine, Needle-free, pain-free device
Availability	Epinephrine not available in public locations due to injection related risks	Needle-free; intuitive to use devices

 Table 16: Unmet Needs and Product Attributes to Address

As a result of these limitations, a significant proportion of the approximate 40 million patients at risk of severe Type I allergic reactions in the United States do not receive or fill prescriptions for

intramuscular injection products, such as EpiPen or generic equivalents. Of the 3.3 million patients who fill their prescriptions in the US, fewer than half carry the intramuscular injectable products with them on a regular basis, while many of the other half delay treatment during a severe type I allergic reaction (Brooks-2017; Fleming-2015). This hesitancy results in the prolonging troublesome symptoms and an increased risk of progression of the reaction to anaphylaxis, including possible long-term comorbidities or even death (Warren-2018).

Therefore, there is a significant unmet need to address these issues as many patients and caregivers are unwilling to use a needle-bearing device. *neffy* has the potential to address many of these unmet medical needs as needle-free option to current injection devices.

2.5. *neffy* Product Features

With its needleless design and ease of use, *neffy* addresses several key concerns, both with regard to safety and hesitancy to dose. As part of the research study described above, ARS asked participants to rate (on a scale of 1 - 10) what feature would motivate them to use *neffy* sooner than their current device (Table 17). Ease of use was the most highly rated feature that participants anticipated would reduce hesitancy, followed by less pain, no needle, reduced fear of striking bone, and reduced fear of cardiovascular side effects.

	Mean Score (scale of 1 – 10)			
Feature	Self- Administered (n = 100)	Caregiver Administered (n = 100)	Total (n = 200)	
Easier to use / Less complicated to use	8.3	8.4	8.4	
Less pain upon use	7.7	8.2	7.9	
No needle	7.6	8.1	7.8	
Eliminates fear of causing harm due to lacerations or striking bone rather than muscle	7.7	7.9	7.8	
Lessens fear of causing harm due to cardiovascular complications, or epinephrine overdose	7.5	8.0	7.7	
Easier to carry / Portability	7.4	7.4	7.4	
Smaller size	7.1	7.0	7.1	

Table 17: Features Anticipated to Contribute to More Rapid Use of neffy vs EAIs

Both the published literature (Boswell-2021) and the ARS questionnaire results in patients and caregivers with recent experience dosing epinephrine injection devices (within 1 year) suggests that there are gaps in the current treatment of severe allergic reactions and anaphylaxis, and that these treatment gaps are largely driven by a reluctance to utilize current therapies.

Understanding and addressing these barriers is crucial to providing a quality therapeutic product. With its needleless design and ease of use, *neffy* addresses several of documented concerns, however further work needs to be done to educate patients regarding the safety and efficacy of

epinephrine products for the treatment of severe allergic reactions and anaphylaxis, as well as how and when these products should be used.

In addition to addressing the issues surrounding hesitation to dose, *neffy's* needleless design also completely eliminates the risks of accidental intra-vessel administration observed with EAIs.

3. *neffy* PRODUCT DESCRIPTION

neffy (epinephrine nasal spray) is a combination of three previously validated product components (Figure 15), including:

- 1. Epinephrine
- 2. a proprietary absorption enhancing agent called dodecylmaltoside (DDM) to improve the bioavailability of drugs administered by the intranasal (IN) route
- 3. a commercial Unit Dose Sprayer (UDS) that is designed to produce a spray pattern and droplet size that maximizes the delivery to the turbinates

Once administered, epinephrine is primarily absorbed into the systemic circulation rapidly via the highly vascularized turbinates (Kapoor-2016)

Figure 15: neffy Triad



3.1. Epinephrine

Epinephrine has been used for more than 100 years, with more than 60 years use to treat severe allergic reactions, and there has been extensive clinical experience with the use of epinephrine to

treat anaphylaxis, severe allergy such as asthma, and shock. The use of epinephrine for the treatment of anaphylaxis is supported by both pharmacologic and physiologic experiments in multiple animal studies, as well as reports from clinical experiences. Its use has been adopted as the standard-of-care, first-line treatment of anaphylaxis (Lieberman-2015, Simons-2011).

3.2. Dodecylmaltoside (DDM)

neffy is a formulation of epinephrine that includes a proprietary functional excipient called dodecylmaltoside (DDM), supplied and licensed by Aegis Therapeutics. DDM is an approved excipient in the United States, used to improve the bioavailability of drugs administered by the intranasal (IN) route. DDM loosen cell-cell junctions and enhance paracellular movement through the nasal epithelium, behaving as a permeation enhancer when combined with certain medications intended for intranasal administration (Lipton-2018, Munjal- 2017, Hogan-2020, Maggio-2014).

The *neffy* (epinephrine) nasal spray formulation was found in Phase 1 studies to have an optimal bioavailability with the addition of 0.275% DDM. DDM has been included in the formulations of FDA approved products, such as VALTOCO[®] nasal spray and TOSYMRA[®] nasal spray and there have been no safety issues reported.

3.3. Unit Dose Sprayer (UDS)

The UDS device used for *neffy* is well known and proven and has a 20-year history of use with no recalls. It is a single dose device that does not require any priming or other activation. It is a simple to use mechanism that is highly reliable, with less than 1 in 100,000 chances of a failure and delivers an effective dose within specifications based on reliability testing for *neffy* and other products using the UDS device. In addition to the real-world experience with this device ARS has conducted multiple reliability studies with the *neffy* 1 mg and *neffy* 2 mg products. The intranasal UDS device used has been commercially proven with millions of sprayers sold across multiple FDA-approved products, including NARCAN[®] for opioid overdose with 50 million subscribed since 2015 and VALTOCO[®] nasal spray for epilepsy, as well as other approved products (Figure 15).

3.4. Nasal Absorption of Epinephrine

Due to their large surface-to-volume ratio, the highly vascularized turbinates, which are small structures within the nose that cleanse and humidify air that passes through the nostrils into the lungs, have the ability to rapidly absorbed intranasally delivered drugs into the systemic circulation. Indeed, the nasal turbinates are the primary sites of absorption of intranasally delivered drugs (Kapoor-2016). The primary factor in the fluid dynamics of a nasal spray is the droplet size and droplet sizes of less than 10 μ m are required to penetrate past the nasopharynx (Calmet-2019, Frank-2012). Above 10 μ m droplet size, Frank et. al. (Frank-2012) predicts that nearly 100% of the spray is deposited in the nasal cavity (i.e., anterior region and turbinates). Droplets in the 20 μ m to 120 μ m size are almost exclusively captured on the terminates and the

design of the Unit Dose sprayer ensures that more than 80% of the total droplets are in this range.

4. CLINICAL DEVELOPMENT PROGRAM AND RATIONALE

neffy's clinical development program is centered on pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic data, as randomized clinical trials in patients in patients experiencing an anaphylactic reaction are considered unethical:

- 1. Bracket approach: the rationale that a single dose of *neffy* 2 mg has a pharmacokinetic profile that is similar to other injection products and bracketed by EpiPen 0.3 mg and Epinephrine 0.3 mg IM (discussed in Sections 4.1 and 4.2) with other approved injection devices also within this bracket; and
- 2. The use of pharmacodynamic data is a surrogate for efficacy (discussed in Section 4.3).
- 3. With repeat dose of *neffy* 2 mg a pharmacokinetic profile greater than injection products is warranted given the more serious nature of the disease including hypotension. *neffy* 2 mg is dose proportional with repeat dosing and between doses, while injection products have been proven to not be dose proportional. This results in a more consistent and better epinephrine exposure and pharmacodynamic response with *neffy* 2 mg versus twice dosing of approved injection products.

4.1. Pharmacokinetic Variability of Epinephrine Injection Products

Approved epinephrine injection products have been shown to be highly variable from study to study (Figure 16) (Lockey-2022, Turner-2022) with a median T_{max} values ranging from 5 to 60 minutes and mean maximum concentration (C_{max}) values ranging from 209 to 869 pg/mL (Table 18).

While each injection product has a notably different pharmacokinetic profile, they are used interchangeably with same guidance. All injection products typically demonstrate therapeutic effects within 5 to 10 minutes after administration, with instructions to administer a second dose if symptoms are not alleviated within 5 to 15 minutes if clinical benefit is not observed.





Table 18: PK Parameters Across Injection Products

Treatment*	Source	N	Mean Study C _{max} (pg/mL)	Median or Mean Study T _{max} (min)	Study T _{max} Range (min) in individuals
Epinephrine 0.3 mg	Literature	200	209 - 489	30 - 60	3 - 120
IM	ARS*	223	244 - 339	45	3.9 - 360
Symjepi 0.3 mg	ARS*	36	438	30	4-360
Auvi-Q 0.3 mg**	Literature	67	486	20	5 - 60
E-: D-= 0.2	Literature	311	288 - 869	5 - 40	1 -120
Epiren 0.5 mg	ARS*	113	375 - 753	7.5 - 24	2 - 154
Total Range			209 - <mark>8</mark> 69	5 - 60	1 - 360

*ARS data = EPI 03, 04, 07, 12, 15, 16, and 17 Studies; **Baseline corrected Note: no literature data are available for Twinject or Adrenaclick

To further explore the observed differences in C_{max} and T_{max} , we analyzed T_{max} at discrete intervals over time (≤ 4 , $\geq 4 - \leq 10$, $\geq 10 - \leq 20$, $\geq 20 - \leq 30$, $\geq 30 - \leq 45$, and ≥ 45 minutes, presented as ≤ 4 , ≤ 10 , ≤ 20 , ≤ 30 , ≤ 45 , and ≥ 45 minutes, respectively) (Figure 17). C_{max} increased when the T_{max} was faster with EpiPen having the greatest increase in $T_{max} \leq 4$. EpiPen was associated with the greatest likelihood of a faster T_{max} , with 21% of individuals in this group exhibiting a T_{max} of ≤ 4 minutes with 23% and 25% in ≤ 10 and ≤ 30 , while there is a tendency to have peak proportion of individual around 45 minutes with IM injection and 30 min with Symjepi.



Figure 17: Mean C_{max} (top) and Distribution of Individuals (bottom) Across T_{max} Categories

Source: EPI 03, 04, 07, and 12 Studies

The C_{max} distribution for individuals with $T_{max} \leq 4$ min suggests that the greater mean C_{max} observed with EpiPen 0.3 mg in this T_{max} category was likely driven by the proportion of individuals with a $C_{max} > 1000$ pg/mL (Figure 18).



Figure 18: Distribution of Cmax values of individual participant with Tmax ≤4 minutes

Individual epinephrine concentration over time curves were assessed for all individuals who had plasma epinephrine concentration >1000 pg/mL within \leq 4 minutes of injection (Figure 19). Figure 20 represents the time course of epinephrine concentration and SBP with a subject (101) with presumed intra-blood vessel administration (IV bolus injection) via EpiPen and the rest of the subjects in EPI JP01 study. These curves exhibited an immediate sharp peak, suggesting some degree of intra-blood vessel administration.

Source: EPI 03, 04, 07, and 12 Studies



Figure 19: Epinephrine concentration versus time for individual participants reaching plasma epinephrine concentrations of >1000 pg/mL with Tmax ≤4 min





Based on the integrated analysis, the PK profile of injection products are most likely a mixture of a subset of early peak with some influence from intra-blood vessel administration (Figure 17), like intravenous, and a subset of later peak, which may be truly intramuscular injections (Figure 21).

Figure 21: Early and Late Peaks following Injection



Since it appeared that the PK profile of injections are a mixture of IM-like and IV-like PK and all injections products are used interchangeably, our approach for the assessment was to have neffy within the range or bracket of approved products.

4.2. Bracketing Approach

While IM injection (needle and syringe) is the basis for epinephrine efficacy and the lower end of the PK range for injection products and EpiPen (Autoinjector) is the higher end of PK range for injection products with study-to-study variability, all FDA approved injection products give similar efficacy and acceptable safety profiles (90% effective with a single dose).

Therefore, EpiPen and Epinephrine 0.3 mg IM were chosen as comparators for the following reasons:

- Epinephrine 0.3 mg IM is at the low end of the pharmacokinetic range for epinephrine injection products and is the standard by which epinephrine efficacy is measured.
- EpiPen is at the high end of the pharmacokinetic range for epinephrine injection products and, as such, serves as a standard by which safety is measured.

A bracketing approach (Table 19), in agreement with FDA and as described above, was used to demonstrate pharmacokinetics within the range of that known to be efficacious and safe. IM injection (needle and syringe) was selected as the reference for efficacy with *neffy* pharmacokinetics being greater and more rapid than IM. EpiPen, while highly variable from study to study (Appendix 1), exhibits the highest exposures and most rapid T_{max} and was used as the upper reference in the bracket to ensure exposures were in a safe range.

Bracketing Criteria	Lower Bracket	Upper Bracket
C _{max} (primary)	0.3 mg IM	0.3 mg EpiPen
T _{max} (primary)	0.3 mg IM	0.3 mg EpiPen
pAUC0-20, 0-30, 0-45 (primary)	0.3 mg IM	0.3 mg EpiPen
AUC _{0-t} (secondary)		0.5 mg IM

	Table 19:	Bracket	Approach	for	Pharmac	okinetics
--	-----------	---------	----------	-----	---------	-----------

4.3. Pharmacodynamic Data as a Surrogate for Efficacy

Randomized, controlled clinical studies of the treatment of patients at risk of anaphylaxis are unethical and/or impractical and no such comparative efficacy study with epinephrine has ever been conducted in patients at risk of serious allergic reactions and anaphylaxis.

There are several factors driving the lack of such studies. First, it is often impossible predict when and whether an allergic episode will progress to anaphylaxis, and the clinical course of allergic reactions can be unpredictable. Involvement of body organ systems in anaphylaxis varies among patients even in the same patient from one allergic reaction to another. Such unpredictability of clinical course could put patients at risk of a life-threatening, potentially fatal condition. Second, given the high degree of variability in severe allergic reactions (type of allergen, treatments provided, etc.) a large study population would be required in order to achieve sufficient statistical validity, something that is a particularly large practical barrier given the relative infrequency of anaphylaxis. Third, adrenaline has been accepted as a treatment for anaphylaxis for over 100 years with various routes of administration and it is doubtful whether there is sufficient equipoise to support such a trial.

Additionally, epinephrine's MOA for the treatment of Type I allergic reactions and anaphylaxis is generally well understood and comes from direct systemic agonism of α - and β -adrenergic receptors, leading to a reversal of the pathological response to the histamine cascade caused by an antigen (Table 13).

Therefore, in collaboration with the FDA, PD endpoints were used as surrogate markers for efficacy, with the understanding that these endpoints (blood pressure and heart rate) are indicative of α - and β -adrenergic receptor activation and, consequently, clinical efficacy. Throughout the clinical development program, *neffy*'s efficacy and safety has been established based on a series of clinical studies in both healthy volunteers and allergy patients.

4.4. Evaluation of Various Dosing Conditions

Because both ethical and practical limitations preclude the conduct of clinical trials in patients experiencing severe allergic reactions and anaphylaxis. Therefore, ARS conducted a GLP study using a dog anaphylaxis model to assess absorption during acute anaphylaxis. Further, ARS conducted two clinical trials to assess the pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of *neffy* in subjects with allergic rhinitis (EPI 16) and upper respiratory tract infections (EPI 14) in order to evaluate the effect of nasal edema and congestion on the absorption of epinephrine administered via *neffy*.

4.5. Summary of Completed ARS Clinical Studies

Based on FDA advice, ARS conducted four primary clinical pharmacology studies for approval of *neffy* 2 mg in adults and pediatric Type I allergy patients 30 kg or greater (EPI 10, EPI 15, EPI 16, and EPI 17). These studies support that *neffy* 2 mg will have PK parameters (C_{max}, t_{max}, AUC₀₋₂₀, AUC₀₋₄₅, and AUCO-t₀ within the range of US approved injection products during caregiver administration, self-administration and in various situations such as during rhinitis with rhinorrhea while in an upright sitting position. The primary four clinical pharmacology studies are supported by five large clinical studies that utilize the commercial *neffy* 1 mg product in adult Type I allergy patients (EPI 04 and EPI JP01), healthy volunteers (EPI 03 and 07), and with self-administration by Type I allergy patients (EPI 12). ARS started the development program with *neffy* 1 mg, which was similar to 0.3 mg IM injection. Subsequently, given the PK range of community-use injection products, ARS decided to increase the dose to 2 mg considering its out of hospital use. A summary of the primary and supportive studies is presented in Table 20. Five

additional studies pilot supportive studies or non-supportive for approval studies were also conducted.

Additionally, ARS has also conducted integrated pharmacokinetic-pharmacodynamic analyses, including Population Pharmacokinetic assessments (POP PK) and Physiologically Based Absorption Model (PBAM) to evaluate the data and extrapolate the pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics to other populations including children down to age 4 years. These models support that *neffy* should be safe and effective, giving exposures to epinephrine in the expected therapeutic range, in both adults and children aged 4 years and older.

Phase 2 studies with urticaria and asthma patients are ongoing.

Study Number	Objective(s) of the Study	Study Design and Type of Control	Test Product(s) Dosage Regimen Route of Administration	Population (Number)
neffy 2 mg	Primary Studies Supporting A	pproval		
EPI 15	To assess the PK and PD of <i>neffy</i> dosed once and twice, compared to a single and repeat doses of IM epinephrine injection and EpiPen	Phase 1, two part, randomized, single- dose (3-treatment, 3- period) and repeat- dose (3-treatment, 3- period), crossover study	neffy 2 mg IN neffy 2 mg IN, twice (R/L) neffy 2 mg IN, twice (R/R) Epinephrine 0.3 mg IM EpiPen 0.3 mg EpiPen 0.3 mg, twice	Healthy subjects (54)
EPI 16	To assess the comparative bioavailability of <i>neffy</i> dosed once to evaluate the impact of nasal oedema and congestion; compared to 0.3 mg and 0.5 mg IM.	Phase 1, randomized, single-dose, 3- treatment, 3-period, crossover study, followed by administration with induced rhinitis	<i>neffy</i> 2 mg IN, normal conditions <i>neffy</i> 2 mg IN, rhinitis Epinephrine 0.3 mg IM Epinephrine 0.5 mg IM	Allergy Patients (36)
EPI 17	To assess the PK and PD of <i>neffy</i> as well as error rate following self-administration as compared to 0.3 mg IM injection	Phase 1, randomized, single-dose, 2- treatment, 2-period, crossover study	<i>neffy</i> 2 mg IN, self-admin. Epinephrine 0.3 mg IM	Type I Allergy Patients (42)
EPI 10	To assess the PK and PD of <i>neffy</i> dosed once in pediatric allergy subjects (15-<30 kg; and 30+ kg body weight; age 4 to 17 years)	Phase 1, single-dose, single-treatment	<i>neffy</i> 0.65 mg IN (15-30 kg) <i>neffy</i> 1 mg IN (15-30 kg) <i>neffy</i> 1 mg IN (≥30 kg) <i>neffy</i> 2 mg IN (≥30 kg)	Pediatric Type I Allergy Patients (57)

T 11 •0	G		a	CH + 1 D1		o
Table 20:	Summary of	Primary and	Supportive	Clinical Pha	irmacology	Studies

Study Number	Objective(s) of the Study	Study Design and Type of Control	Test Product(s) Dosage Regimen Route of Administration	Population (Number)		
neffy 1 mg and Dose Ranging Supportive Studies						
EPI 03	To assess the PK and PD of <i>neffy</i> dosed once and twice, compared to a single and repeat doses of IM epinephrine injection; Continuous EKG	Phase 1, randomized, single-dose, 5- treatment, 5-period, crossover study	neffy 1 mg IN neffy 1 mg IN, twice Epinephrine 0.3 mg IM Epinephrine 0.3 mg IM, twice Epinephrine 0.5 mg IM	Healthy subjects (70)		
EPI 04	To assess the comparative bioavailability of <i>neffy</i> dosed once to evaluate the impact of nasal oedema and congestion; compared to IM and SC.	Phase 1, randomized, single-dose, 5-period, partial cross-over study	<i>neffy</i> 1 mg IN <i>neffy</i> 1 mg IN, w/ rhinitis Epinephrine 0.3 mg IM Epinephrine 0.5 mg IM Epinephrine 0.3 mg SC	Allergy Patients (36)		
EPI 07	To assess the PK and PD of <i>neffy</i> dosed once and twice compared with EpiPen dosed once and twice.	Phase 1, randomized, 5-treatment, 5-period, crossover study	neffy 1 mg IN (L nostril) neffy 1 mg IN, twice (L/R) neffy 1 mg IN, twice (L/L) EpiPen 0.3 mg (L thigh) EpiPen 0.3 mg, twice (L/R)	Healthy subjects (36)		
EPI 12	To assess the PK and PD of <i>neffy</i> as well as error rate following self-administration	Phase 1 randomized, four treatment crossover study	<i>neffy</i> mg; 0.25% DDM <i>neffy</i> mg; 0.35% DDM EpiPen (0.3 mg) Symjepi (0.3 mg)	Healthy subjects (36)		
JP 01	To assess the PK and PD of <i>neffy</i> dosed once to evaluate the impact of nasal oedema and congestion; compared to IM and EpiPen in Japanese subjects.	Phase 1, partially randomized, four- treatment study	<i>neffy</i> 1 mg IN Epinephrine 0.3 mg IM EpiPen 0.3 mg IM/SC <i>neffy</i> 1 mg IN, with rhinitis	Type I Allergy Patients (36)		

Abbreviations: IM=intranuscular, IN=intranasal, PK=pharmacokinetic, SC=subcutaneous R/L=right/left R/R=right/right, L/R=left/right, L/L=left/left

5. RESULTS: OVERVIEW OF CLINICAL PHARMACOLOGY

ARS conducted four primary clinical pharmacology studies to demonstrate *neffy*'s pharmacokinetic, pharmacodynamic, and safety profiles (Section 4.5). In each of these studies, pharmacodynamic responses were used as surrogate markers for efficacy. An integrated pharmacokinetic analysis was conducted using data from five randomized, open-label, single-dose phase 1 trials (EPI 03, EPI 04, EPI 07, EPI 15, and EPI 16). Some key data from EPI 17 (self-administration) and EPI 10 (pediatric patients) are also included in this section.

The following data are presented in this section:

- Overall PK of once- and twice-dosed treatments (Section 5.1)
- Overall PD of once- and twice-dosed treatments (Section 5.2)
- PK and PD in pediatric patients (Section 5.3)
- PK and PD of Various dosing conditions (Section 5.4)

5.1. Integrated Pharmacokinetic Results

When administered once, the pharmacokinetic profile of *neffy* 2 mg was bracketed by approved injection products. *neffy* demonstrated greater and more rapid exposure compared to Epinephrine 0.3 mg IM (the RLD drug for efficacy) and a lower C_{max} and more controlled absorption relative to EpiPen (the upper limit for safety) (Figure 21).

When administered twice, *neffy* resulted in a dose proportional increase in epinephrine concentrations (Figure 24). Following two administrations ten minutes apart, *neffy's* C_{max} following twice dosing was 196% (R/L) and 202% (R/R) and *neffy's* AUC₀₋₄₅ was 184% (L/R) and 193% (R/R) of a single dose. In contrast, the IM injection products did not result in dose proportional increases, with twice dosing resulting in a C_{max} of 165% and an AUC₀₋₄₅ of 154% of a single dose. The lack of dose proportionality seen following IM injection is likely due to the increased blood flow into the skeletal muscle in the thigh that is more prominent following the first injection by IM injection (Tanimoto-2022).

neffy's dose proportionality may be particularly advantageous during more severe Type 1 allergic reactions, when a second dose is necessary to achieve an acceptable therapeutic effect.

5.1.1. Pharmacokinetics of Once Dosed Treatments

Mean by-treatment (once dosed) plasma concentration vs time profiles are presented in Figure 21 and that of self-administration is presented in Figure 22. Pharmacokinetic parameters are presented in Table 21.

neffy's pharmacokinetic profiles were bracketed by EpiPen (at the upper end) and Epinephrine IM 0.3 mg (at the lower end).



Figure 22: Plasma Concentration vs Time Profiles of Epinephrine, Once Dosed, by Treatment

neffy 2.0 mg vs. Epinephrine 0.3 mg IM: neffy 2.0 mg vs. EpiPen 0.3 mg:

8 to 360 min (p<.01), 4 min (p<.05) 2 to 10 min and 45 to 240 min (p<.01), 360 min (p<.05)

Table 21: Summary Statistics of Total Epinephrine Pharmacokinetic Parameters - Once Dosed Treatments

		Стах	T _{max}	pAUC ₀₋₂₀	AUC _{0-t}	
Product	N	(pg/mL) Mean (CV%)	(minutes) Median (range)	(min*pg/mL) Mean (CV%)))
Epinephrine 0.3 mg IM	178	277 (65)	45 (4-360)	2090 (86) 6290 (61)		27900 (39)
<i>neffy</i> 2 mg (self- administration)	42	421 (66)	30 (6-240)	2964 (71) 10545 (63) 4677		46776 (56)
neffy 2 mg	78	485 (71)	20.5 (2-150)	3610 (84)	11000 (76)	40900 (68)
EpiPen 0.3 mg	77	581 (76)	10 (2-45)	5640 (73)	12000 (53)	31600 (39)

* EPI 17 Study; Note: mean AUC0-t of Epinephrine 0.5 mg was 43700 min*pg/mL Statistical significance

neffy 2.0 mg vs. Epinephrine 0.3 mg IM:

neffy 2.0 mg vs. EpiPen 0.3 mg: p.

Cmax, pAUC_{0-20}, pAUC_{0-45}, AUC_{0-t} (p<.01) pAUC_{0-20}, AUC_{0-t} (p<.01)

5.1.2. Pharmacokinetics of Twice Dosed Treatments

Mean by-treatment (twice dosed) plasma concentration vs time profiles from the integrated analysis are presented in Figure 23 and pharmacokinetic parameters are presented in Table 22.

Figure 23 demonstrates that *neffy* 2 mg was dose proportional and similar between once in each nostril (L/R) or twice in one nostril (R/R). The exposures from *neffy* 2 mg dosed twice were similar to 0.3 mg EpiPen dosed twice. In all ARS studies, IM injection regardless of device used did not result in dose proportional increases in exposures.





Statistical significance

 neffy 2.0 mg (R/R) vs. Epinephrine 0.3 mg IM (L/R):
 12.5 to 360 min (p<.01)</td>

 neffy 2.0 mg (L/R) vs. EpiPen 0.3 mg (L/R):
 4, 60 to 240 min (p<.01), 6, 8, 30, 45 and 360 min (p<.05)</td>

 neffy 2.0 mg (L/R) vs. EpiPen 0.3 mg (L/R):
 6 to 10, 30 to 240 min (p<.01), 4, 20, 30 min (p<.05)</td>

Table 22:	Summary Statistics of Total Epinephrine Pharmacokinetic Parameters: Twice-
	Dosed Treatments

Treatment	N	C _{max} (pg/mL)	pAUC ₀₋₂₀ (min*pg/mL)	pAUC ₀₋₄₅ (min*pg/mL)	AUC _{0-t} (min*pg/mL)	t _{max} (min)
ITeatment	N		median (range)			
<i>neffy</i> 2 mg twice (L/R)	39	1000 (93)	5430 (99)	22000 (97)	86000 (77)	30 (6 -150)
<i>neffy</i> 2 mg twice (R/R)	39	992 (75)	5610 (94)	22500 (82)	86500 (61)	30 (4 - 150)
Epinephrine 0.3 mg IM twice (L/R)	70	436 (49)	2750 (83)	9610 (59)	47500 (33)	45 (6 - 180)
EpiPen 0.3 mg twice (L/R)	78	754 (65)	6930 (77)	18300 (54)	55000 (48)	20 (4 - 360)

AUC_{0-t} (p<.01)

Statistical significance

neffy 2.0 mg (L/R) vs. Epinephrine 0.3 mg IM (L/R): Cmax, pAUC0-20, pAUC0-45, AUC0-t (p<.01)

neffy 2.0 mg (R/R) vs. Epinephrine 0.3 mg IM (L/R): Cmax, pAUC0-20, pAUC0-45, AUC0-t (p<.01)

neffy 2.0 mg (L/R) vs. EpiPen 0.3 mg (L/R):

neffy 2.0 mg (L/R) vs. EpiPen 0.3 mg (L/R): AUC_{0-t} (p<.01), C_{max} (p<.05)



Figure 24: Dose Proportionality Following Twice Dosed Treatments

5.2. Integrated Pharmacodynamic Results

In general, *neffy* 2 mg dosed once resulted in pharmacodynamics responses that were comparable to or better than injection products (Figure 25 and Table 23). Changes and absolute values of blood pressure and heart rate were within normal physiologic levels as observed during daily activities such as exercise or climbing several flights of stairs. Change from baseline for systolic blood pressure and heart rate were similar (not significantly different) from EpiPen, but generally statistically greater than 0.3 mg IM injection. For diastolic blood pressure there was a greater drop after IM injection than with intranasal administration due to the direct to systemic route of administration (i.e., similar to intravenous infusion) (Tanimoto-2022).

With twice dosing of *neffy* 2 mg (Figure 26 and Table 24) pharmacodynamic responses were generally statistically greater for systolic blood pressure increase as compared to EpiPen and IM injection. This greater mean increase in systolic blood pressure is likely due to the fact that the pharmacokinetics of injection products are not dose proportional and the significant drop in diastolic blood pressure that suppresses the increase in systolic blood pressure. However, given that when a second dose is needed, the reaction is generally more severe and the patient is more likely hypotensive due to vasodilation from histamine and other mediators, *neffy's* greater increase in systolic blood pressure is generally considered beneficial. Changes in heart rate were similar to EpiPen (not significantly different) but greater than IM injection.

5.2.1. Pharmacodynamics of Once Dosed Treatments

Mean plots of change from baseline pharmacodynamic parameters versus time, are presented in Figure 25 and a summary of pharmacodynamic parameters are presented in Table 23. In general, *neffy* 2 mg IN resulted in pharmacodynamics responses that were comparable to or better than injection products.



Figure 25: Single Dose: Mean Change from Baseline PD vs Time and Box Plots

	······ • •·······	
Statistica	al significance	
SBP:	neffy 2.0 mg vs. Epinephrine 0.3 mg IM:	5 -90 min (p<0.0001 to <0.05)
	neffy 2.0 mg vs. EpiPen 0.3 mg:	5 min and 15-60 min (p<0.01 to <0.05)
DBP:	neffy 2.0 mg vs. Epinephrine 0.3 mg IM:	5 -120 min (p<0.0001 to <0.05)
	neffy 2.0 mg vs. EpiPen 0.3 mg:	$5 - 30 \min(p < 0.0001 \text{ to } < 0.01)$
HR:	neffy 2.0 mg vs. Epinephrine 0.3 mg IM:	5 -120 min (p<0.0001 to <0.01)
	neffy 2.0 mg vs. EpiPen 0.3 mg:	15, 60, and 90 min (<0.05)

Treatment N			E _{max} mean (%CV)		T _{Emax} median (range)			
		SBP (mmHg)	DBP (mmHg)	HR (bpm)	SBP (min)	DBP (min)	HR (min)	
Epinephrine 0.3 mg IM	142	11.6 (74)	5.44 (125)	11.5 (70)	25 (1 - 120)	9 (1 - 120)	29.5 (1 - 120)	
EpiPen 0.3 mg	77	18.2 (68)	6.48 (112)	14.8 (61)	16 (1 - 119)	21 (1 - 119)	17 (1 - 115)	
<i>neffy</i> 2 mg	78	22.3 (72)	8.99 (73)	17.8 (69)	25 (1 - 120)	19 (1 - 120)	19.5 (1 - 120)	

Table 23: Integrated Pharmacodynamic Response, Once Dosed, by Treatment

Statistical significance

neffy 2.0 mg vs. Epinephrine 0.3 mg IM: neffy 2.0 mg vs. EpiPen 0.3 mg:

SBP E_{max} (p<0.0001), DBP E_{max} (p<0.001), HR E_{max} (p<0.0001) DBP E_{max} (p<0.05)

5.2.2. Pharmacodynamics of Twice Dosed Treatments

Mean plots of change from baseline pharmacodynamic parameters versus time, are presented in Figure 26 and a summary of pharmacodynamic parameters are presented in Table 23.

Consistent with the once dosed treatments, *neffy* 2 mg IN resulted in pharmacodynamics responses that were comparable to or better than injection products.



Figure 26: Twice Dosing: Mean Change from Baseline PD Response vs Time and Box Plots

62

Statistica	l significance	
SBP:	neffy 2.0 mg (L/R) vs. Epinephrine 0.3 mg IM (L/R):	10 to 120 min (p<0.0001 to <0.01)
	neffy 2.0 mg (R/R) vs. Epinephrine 0.3 mg IM (L/R):	10 to 120 min (p<0.0001 to <0.05)
	neffy 2.0 mg (L/R) vs. EpiPen 0.3 mg (L/R):	5 and 25 to 120 min (p<0.0001 to <0.05)
	neffy 2.0 mg (L/R) vs. EpiPen 0.3 mg (L/R):	20 to 120 min (p<0.0001 to <0.05)
DBP:	neffy 2.0 mg (L/R) vs. Epinephrine 0.3 mg IM (L/R):	10 to 90 min (p<0.0001 to <0.05)
	neffy 2.0 mg (R/R) vs. Epinephrine 0.3 mg IM (L/R):	10 to 90 min (p<0.0001 to <0.05)
	neffy 2.0 mg (L/R) vs. EpiPen 0.3 mg (L/R):	15 to 45 min (p<0.0001 to <0.01)
	neffy 2.0 mg (L/R) vs. EpiPen 0.3 mg (L/R):	5, 15 to 90 min (p<0.001 to <0.05)
HR:	neffy 2.0 mg (L/R) vs. Epinephrine 0.3 mg IM (L/R):	5, 10, 20 to 60, 120 min (p<0.0001 to <0.05)
	neffy 2.0 mg (R/R) vs. Epinephrine 0.3 mg IM (L/R):	5 to 120 min (p<0.0001 to <0.05)
	neffy 2.0 mg (L/R) vs. EpiPen 0.3 mg (L/R):	120 min (p<0.01)
	neffy 2.0 mg (L/R) vs. EpiPen 0.3 mg (L/R):	90, 120 min (p<0.01)

Table 24: Integrated Pharmacodynamic Response, Twice Dosed, by Treatment

Treatment	N		E _{max} mean (%CV)		T _{Emax} median (range)			
пеятшент	N	SBP (mmHg)	DBP (mmHg)	HR (bpm)	SBP (min)	DBP (min)	HR (min)	
<i>neffy</i> 2 mg twice (L/R)	39	28.9 (47)	10.5 (71)	22.1 (55)	29 (2 - 116)	19 (1 - 115)	29 (1 - 116)	
<i>neffy</i> 2 mg twice (R/R)	39	29.1 (46)	9.6 (84)	22.9 (44)	28 (6 - 85)	13 (1 - 118)	40 (1 - 116)	
Epinephrine 0.3 mg IM twice (L/R)	70	13.4 (71)	6.0 (116)	17 (45)	22 (1 - 120)	5 (1 - 120)	45 (2 - 120)	
EpiPen 0.3 mg twice (L/R)	78	22.6 (52)	7.4 (109)	19.8 (50)	19 (1 - 88)	16 (1 - 119)	29 (1 - 119)	

Statistical significance

 $\begin{array}{ll} \mbox{neffy 2.0 mg (L/R) vs. Epinephrine 0.3 mg IM (L/R): SBP E_{max} (p<0.0001), DBP E_{max} (p<0.01), HR E_{max} (p<0.05) \\ \mbox{neffy 2.0 mg (R/R) vs. Epinephrine 0.3 mg IM (L/R): SBP E_{max} (p<0.0001), DBP E_{max} (p<0.05), HR E_{max} (p<0.001) \\ \mbox{neffy 2.0 mg (L/R) vs. Epinephrine 0.3 mg (L/R): SBP E_{max} (p<0.05), DBP E_{max} (p<0.05) \\ \mbox{neffy 2.0 mg (R/R) vs. Epinephrine 0.3 mg (L/R): SBP E_{max} (p<0.05), DBP E_{max} (p<0.05) \\ \mbox{neffy 2.0 mg (R/R) vs. Epinephrine 0.3 mg (L/R): SBP E_{max} (p<0.01) \\ \mbox{neffy 2.0 mg (R/R) vs. Epinephrine 0.3 mg (L/R): SBP E_{max} (p<0.01) \\ \mbox{neffy 2.0 mg (R/R) vs. Epinephrine 0.3 mg (L/R): SBP E_{max} (p<0.01) \\ \mbox{neffy 2.0 mg (R/R) vs. Epinephrine 0.3 mg (L/R): SBP E_{max} (p<0.01) \\ \mbox{neffy 2.0 mg (R/R) vs. Epinephrine 0.3 mg (L/R): SBP E_{max} (p<0.01) \\ \mbox{neffy 2.0 mg (R/R) vs. Epinephrine 0.3 mg (L/R): SBP E_{max} (p<0.01) \\ \mbox{neffy 2.0 mg (R/R) vs. Epinephrine 0.3 mg (L/R): SBP E_{max} (p<0.01) \\ \mbox{neffy 2.0 mg (R/R) vs. Epinephrine 0.3 mg (L/R): SBP E_{max} (p<0.01) \\ \mbox{neffy 2.0 mg (R/R) vs. Epinephrine 0.3 mg (L/R): SBP E_{max} (p<0.01) \\ \mbox{neffy 2.0 mg (R/R) vs. Epinephrine 0.3 mg (L/R): SBP E_{max} (p<0.01) \\ \mbox{neffy 2.0 mg (R/R) vs. Epinephrine 0.3 mg (L/R): SBP E_{max} (p<0.01) \\ \mbox{neffy 2.0 mg (R/R) vs. Epinephrine 0.3 mg (L/R): SBP E_{max} (p<0.01) \\ \mbox{neffy 2.0 mg (R/R) vs. Epinephrine 0.3 mg (L/R): SBP E_{max} (p<0.01) \\ \mbox{neffy 2.0 mg (R/R) vs. Epinephrine 0.3 mg (L/R): SBP E_{max} (p<0.01) \\ \mbox{neffy 2.0 mg (R/R) vs. Epinephrine 0.3 mg (L/R): SBP E_{max} (p<0.01) \\ \mbox{neffy 2.0 mg (R/R) vs. Epinephrine 0.3 mg (L/R): SBP E_{max} (p<0.01) \\ \mbox{neffy 2.0 mg (R/R) vs. Epinephrine 0.3 mg (L/R): SBP E_{max} (p<0.01) \\ \mbox{neffy 2.0 mg (R/R) vs. Epinephrine 0.3 mg (R/R) v$

5.2.3. Differences in Pharmacodynamic Response by Route

The pharmacodynamic results were mostly comparable between *neffy* and EpiPen despite the higher and faster pharmacokinetic profile of EpiPen. The difference in the DBP response between *neffy* and injection products may be attributed to the route of administration (Tanimoto-2022). Activation of the β_2 adrenergic receptors promotes vasodilation in the skeletal muscle, causing a decrease in peripheral vascular resistance and increased blood flow to skeletal muscle, ultimately resulting in a decrease in DBP (Westfall-2011). However, such decrease in DBP may be more enhanced when epinephrine is administered into the skeletal muscle directly via injection (100% epinephrine) rather than from the systemic circulation. Intranasal epinephrine

will enter the systemic circulation after absorption from the nose followed by going through the venous and the heart, and the skeletal muscle may be exposed to only 15-20% of the total epinephrine dose based on the distribution of cardiac output at rest (Klabundel-2021). Such differences due to route of administration have been reported using a dog anaphylaxis model where IM injection of epinephrine decreased mean arterial pressure, pulmonary wedge pressure and cardiac output (Figure 27) (Mink-2004).



Figure 27: Pharmacodynamic Responses by Route of Administration in Dog Anaphylaxis

Fig. 1. Haemodynamic parameters are plotted over the course of the study (mean \pm SE). Measurements were obtained at baseline, treatment (Tx), and until 3 h post-treatment. N = 6 for all parameters at all intervals. Epi, epinephrine; i.v., intravenous; i.m., intramuscular, and s.c., subcutaneous. Statistics by two-way ANOVA and Student–Newman–Keuls' multiple comparison test.

5.3. Pediatric Data from Type I Allergy Patients – EPI 10

Study EPI 10 (Interim Analysis) was conducted to assess the pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of *neffy* in pediatric allergy patients. During the course of development of *neffy*, ARS increased the dose from 1.0 to 2.0 mg. Accordingly, the pediatric dose was increased as shown in Table 25 below.

Table 25: History of Pediatric Dose

	Previous Dose	Current Dose
15 kg to <30 kg	0.65 mg	1.0 mg
≥30 kg	1.0 mg	2.0 mg

This study is currently ongoing; the data presented below are interim data. At the time of the interim analysis, the sample size for the *neffy* 1 mg, 15 kg to <30 kg group was only three subjects; therefore, the summary statistical results of that group are not presented.

The pediatric study results demonstrate that 1) the pharmacokinetics of *neffy* 2 mg in pediatric subjects is consistent with adults and dose proportional between 1 mg and 2 mg, and 2) that the change from baseline PD responses are comparable to what is observed in adults.

5.3.1. Pediatric Pharmacokinetics Results

The pharmacokinetic results of the interim analysis (Table 26) demonstrate that in children \geq 30 kg, *neffy* 2 mg results in epinephrine absorption that is comparable-to-slightly higher than what is observed in adults and expected based on the Pharmacologically Based Absorption Model (PBAM). Epinephrine levels between the 1 and 2 mg doses in children \geq 30 mg appear to be dose proportional.

Product	N	Mean C _{max} (pg/mL) (CV%)	Median T _{max} (minutes) (range)	pAUC ₀₋₂₀ (min*pg/mL) Mean (CV%)	pAUC ₀₋₄₅ (min*pg/mL) Mean (CV%)	AUC _{0-t} (min*pg/mL) Mean
neffy 1.0 mg Children ≥ 30 kg (previous dose)	25	253 (66)	20 (8-120)	2570 (78)	5960 (52)	14000 (53)
neffy 2.0 mg Children ≥ 30 kg	16	540 (71)	25 (3-120)	4140 (78)	13500 (76)	35500 (76)
neffy 2.0 mg Adults (Integrated)	78	485 (71)	21 (2-150)	3610 (84)	11000 (76)	40900 (68)

 Table 26: Summary Statistics of Epinephrine Pediatric Pharmacokinetic Parameters by Treatment

Larger children (30+ kg) have similar but slightly higher exposures as compared to adults with 2 mg Proportional results between 1 mg and 2 mg doses in 30+ kg group

Data supported by Pharmacologically Base Absorption Model (PBAM) and POP PK

5.3.2. Pediatric Pharmacodynamic Results

Change from baseline PD responses are presented in Table 27. *neffy* elicited SBP and HR responses comparable to what is observed in adults.

			E _{max} mean (%CV))	T _{Emax} median (range)			
Ireatment	N	SBP (mmHg)	DBP (mmHg)	HR (bpm)	SBP (min)	DBP (min)	HR (min)	
neffy 1.0 mg Children≥30 kg (previous dose)	25	8.23 (85)	4.92 (91)	13.8 (72)	20 (0 – 120)	15.5 (0 – 122)	18 (0 – 124)	
neffy 2.0 mg Children≥30 kg	16	11.9 (69)	7 (76)	15.4 (75)	25 (0 - 90)	17.5 (0 – 120)	32.5 (0 - 90)	
neffy 2.0 mg Adults (Integrated)	78	22.3 (72)	8.99 (73)	17.8 (69.3)	25 (1 - 120)	19 (1 - 120)	19.5 (1 - 120)	

Table 27:	Pediatric	Pharmacod	lvnamic	Parameters	for PD	Change	from	Baseline
Lable 27.	I culatife	I hai macou	y namic	I al ameters		Change	nom	Dasenne

5.4. Various Dosing Conditions

Since both ethical and practical limitations preclude the conduct of clinical trials in patients experiencing severe allergic reactions and anaphylaxis, ARS also conducted a GLP study using a dog anaphylaxis model to assess absorption during acute anaphylaxis. Furthermore, ARS conducted two clinical trials to assess the pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of *neffy* in subjects with allergic rhinitis (EPI 16) and upper respiratory tract infections (EPI 14) in order to evaluate the effect of nasal edema and congestion on the absorption of epinephrine administered via *neffy*.

5.4.1. Effect of Hypotension during Anaphylaxis (GLP Dog Anaphylaxis Model)

A GLP study using a dog anaphylaxis model was conducted to evaluate the pharmacokinetics of *neffy* in anesthetized beagle dogs under both normal conditions and Tween 80-induced anaphylaxis conditions. A total of 14 dogs (10 males and 4 females) were dosed with *neffy* 1 mg under normal conditions, followed by *neffy* 1 mg under anaphylaxis conditions. All dogs showed signs of allergic reaction/anaphylaxis following administration of Tween 80.

During anaphylaxis, blood pressure decreased from $137\pm50.4/78\pm30$ mmHg to $61\pm10/39\pm7$ mmHg. *neffy* was absorbed rapidly and extensively by the IN route with C_{max} at least as great and T_{max} at least as rapid as when in a normal state. Thus, absorption during an anaphylactic reaction was confirmed to be at least as good as when the dogs were in a normal state.



Figure 28: Absorption During Hypotension: GLP Dog Anaphylaxis Model

5.4.2. Effect of Allergic Rhinitis (EPI 16)

EPI 16 was conducted to evaluate the comparative bioavailability of *neffy* 2 mg with and without induced allergic rhinitis by nasal allergen challenge (NAC) relative to Epinephrine 0.3 mg IM. EPI 16 was conducted under worst case dosing conditions with *neffy* administered immediately after NAC induction when symptoms of congestion and rhinorrhea were greatest.

EPI 16 utilized the Total Nasal Symptom Score (TNSS) questionnaire to evaluate the nasal symptoms per FDA's guideline (Allergic Rhinitis: Developing Drug Products for Treatment Guidance for Industry). *neffy* 2 mg was administered immediately after rhinitis was induced when symptoms such as congestion and rhinorrhea were most significant.

The criteria for subjects to be dosed with *neffy* 2 mg in the EPI 16 clinical study was that they had to have a TNSS of \geq 5 out of 12 and a congestion score of \geq 2 out of 3 for at least one allergen during the screening challenge. There were 30 of the 34 subjects who reported positive symptoms of rhinorrhea (runny nose) based on the TNSS scoring after NAC induction and before dosing of *neffy* 2 mg.

Pharmacokinetic Results

Relative to normal nasal conditions, allergic rhinitis resulted in a more rapid (T_{max}) absorption of epinephrine (Figure 9 and Table 9), presumably due to increased permeability which was observed in the anaphylaxis dog model (Section 1.6.4.1) and also is reported in the literature (Tuttle-2020). The T_{max} with *neffy* 2 mg with rhinitis was 7 minutes as compared to 20 minutes in the normal nasal state. T_{max} with *neffy* 2 mg with rhinitis was also significantly more rapid than IM epinephrine injection (7 min vs. 45 min, p<0.0001).

At the same time, *neffy* 2 mg with rhinitis resulted in more rapid clearance (i.e., lower C_{max} and overall AUC_{0-t}) compared to normal nasal conditions, which may be due to rhinitis symptoms such as associated rhinorrhea (i.e., more rapid nasal fluid flow resulting in increased clearance of drug from the nasal mucosa). Rhinorrhea was observed in most of the subjects (30 of 34 subjects in the rhinitis group). While the C_{max} was lower with rhinitis as compared to that with *neffy* 2 mg in the normal nasal state, the maximum exposure (C_{max}) with rhinitis was still compable to IM Epinephrine 0.3 mg (Cmax 303 vs 259 pg/mL, p>0.05).



Figure 29: Plasma Concentration vs Time Profiles of Epinephrine (EPI 16)

Treatment	N	t _{max} (min) median (range)	C _{max} (pg/mL) mean (%CV)	AUC _{last} (min*pg/mL) mean (%CV)
neffy 2.0 mg	36	20 (2 - 120)	491 (65.2)	37100 (66.1)
<i>neffy</i> 2.0 mg with rhinitis	34	7 (2 – 90)*	303 (67.7)	23300 (69.0)
Epinephrine 0.3 mg IM	35	45 (4 - 360)	259 (61.7)	26000 (41.9)

Table 28: Pharmacokinetic Parameters, by Treatment (EPI 16)

*neffy 2.0 mg with rhinitis vs. Epinephrine 0.3 mg IM: tmax (p<0.0001)

As seen in Table 29 below, *neffy* 2 mg with rhinitis results in epinephrine exposures that are significantly greater than IM injection from 2 minutes after administration (first time point) and through the first 30 minutes followed by comparable exposures.

	N	pAUC (min*pg/mL)							
Treatment		AUC _{0-2min}	AUC _{0-4min}	AUC _{0-6min}	AUC _{0-8min}	AUC _{0-10min}	AUC ₀₋ 12.5min	AUC ₀₋ 15min	
		mean (%CV)	mean (%CV)	mean (%CV)	mean (%CV)	mean (%CV)	mean (%CV)	mean (%CV)	
ARS-1 2.0 mg	36	77.1 (83.4)	201 (81.0)	391 (81.9)	688 (90.5)	1060 (92.8)	1630 (85.6)	2270 (83.5)	
ARS-1 2.0 mg with rhinitis	34	212* (78.9)	569* (69.1)	922* (60.1)	1270* (58.0)	1610* (57.8)	2050* (56.4)	2460* (58.7)	
Epinephrine IM 0.3 mg	35	68.5 (69.6)	211 (69.7)	439 (78.7)	700 (82.7)	966 (79.8)	1290 (77.4)	1610 (77.7)	
_									
				pAU	JC (min*pg/m	L)			
Treatment	N	AUC0-20min	AUC _{0-30min}	pAU AUC0-45min	UC (min*pg/m AUC0-60min	L) AUC0-120min	AUC _{0-6h}	AUC1-6h	
Treatment	N	AUC0-20min mean (%CV)	AUC _{0-30min} mean (%CV)	pAU AUC0-45min mean (%CV)	C (min*pg/m AUC0-60min mean (%CV)	L) AUC0-120min mean (%CV)	AUC _{0-6h} mean (%CV)	AUC _{1-6h} mean (%CV)	
Treatment ARS-1 2.0 mg	N 36	AUC0-20min mean (%CV) 3630 (78.7)	AUC _{0-30min} mean (%CV) 6400 (67.1)	pAU AUC0-45min mean (%CV) 10200 (62.4)	UC (min*pg/m AUC0-60min mean (%CV) 13400 (62.1)	L) AUC0-120min mean (%CV) 22200 (65.7)	AUC _{0-6h} mean (%CV) 38700 (62.2)	AUC _{1-6h} mean (%CV) 25000 (76.8)	
Treatment ARS-1 2.0 mg ARS-1 2.0 mg with rhinitis	N 36 34	AUC0-20min mean (%CV) 3630 (78.7) 3200* (65.9)	AUC0-30min mean (%CV) 6400 (67.1) 4400* (70.9)	pAU AUC0-45min mean (%CV) 10200 (62.4) 5970 (72.9)	UC (min*pg/m AUC0-60min mean (%CV) 13400 (62.1) 7500 (76.4)	L) AUC0-120min mean (%CV) 22200 (65.7) 12400 (77.7)	AUC _{0-6h} mean (%CV) 38700 (62.2) 24000 (66.0)	AUC1-6h mean (%CV) 25000 (76.8) 16500 (64.8)	

Table 29: Partial AUC Results (EPI 16)

* neffy 2.0 mg with rhinitis vs. Epinephrine 0.3 mg IM: pAUC 2 to 20 min (p<0.01), 30 min (p<0.05)

If evaluating PK results based on absolute concentrations (Table 30), the concentration of epinephrine after administration of *neffy* 2 mg with rhinitis is greater after the first time point at 2 and 4 minutes and comparable to the IM until after 20 minutes.

	N	t _{max} (min) median	Cmax (pg/mL)	Epinephrine Concentration at Each Time Point					
Treatment			Mean	mean (%CV)					
		(range)	(%CV)	2 min	4 min	6 min	10 min	15 min	20 min
ARS-1 2.0 mg	36	20.0 (2-120)	491 (65.2)	54 (95)	70 (88)	121 (113)	195 (97)	262 (103)	279 (82)
ARS-1 2.0 mg with rhinitis	34	7.00 (2-90)	303 (67.7)	194* (85)	179* (56)	184 (68)	172 (74)	163 (109)	133 (100)
Epinephrine IM 0.3 mg	35	45.0 (4-360)	259 (61.7)	51 (84)	106 (86)	147 (99)	149 (75)	144 (95)	157 (93)

Table 30:	Summarv	Statistics of	Epine	phrine	Cmax B	v Time	Point	Results (EPI 16)	
14010 00.	Summary	Statistics of	принс	phine	Cmax D	,	I UIII	Itesuites (

* neffy 2.0 mg with rhinitis vs. Epinephrine 0.3 mg IM: 2 to 4 min (p<0.01)

Clinical effect with epinephrine is observed within 5 to 10 minutes after administration of IM injection with approximately 90% of all events resolving with a single dose and only approximately 10% requiring a second administration to resolve symptoms (Patel-2021). The need for a second dose is also related to severity of the event and if epinephrine administration was delayed (Hochstadter-2016, Patel-2021), and thus with prompt administration after symptoms are detected the need for a second dose may be further reduced. Prescribing guidelines (Shaker-2020) are clear that administration of a second dose of epinephrine should occur if response is not observed in 5 to 10 minutes.

Thus, *neffy* 2 mg even with NAC induced rhinitis will give greater exposures of epinephrine than IM injection through the first 20 to 45 minutes based on absolute concentration or overall exposure respectively. If a second dose is administered with either *neffy* 2 mg or IM injection with epinephrine the additional administration would occur before IM injection reaches peak concentration ($t_{max} = 45$ minutes) and in the time frame where *neffy* 2 mg has overall higher exposures compared to IM through at least 20 minutes. Therefore, even if more rapid clearance of the drug from the nasal mucosa may occur during allergic rhinitis, it is not anticipated to result in any clinically meaningful difference in effectiveness relative to IM injection of epinephrine. If effect is not observed in the first 5 to 10 minutes, a second dose would be given. The second dose would likely have absorption more similar to dosing with normal nasal conditions given the known effect of epinephrine to reverse nasal congestion and rhinorrhea (Macmillan-2022).

Pharmacodynamic Results

The overall pharmacodynamic effect of *neffy* 2 mg with rhinitis was similar to both doses of IM Epinephrine (Figure 30 and Table 12).



Figure 30: EPI 15 PD Results: Box Plots

Treatment	N		E _{max} mean (%CV)		Т _{Етах} median (range)			
пеятшент		SBP (mmHg)	DBP (mmHg)	HR (bpm)	SBP (min)	DBP (min)	HR (min)	
<i>neffy</i> 2 mg	36	20.8 (80.6)	10.0 (77.2)	18.5 (75.9)	26.0 (1.00- 120)	25.0 (1.00- 120)	25.0 (1.00- 178)	
<i>neffy</i> 2 mg with rhinitis	34	15.0 (83.4)	7.24 (6.56)	11.0 (111)	19.0 (1.00- 120)	27.5 (1.00- 119)	9.00 (1.00- 119)	
Epinephrine IM 0.3 mg	35	13.7 (71.1)	6.06 (128)	11.0 (70.6)	19.0 (1.00- 123)	15.0 (1.00- 123)	44.0 (2.00- 120)	

Table 31: Pharmacodynamic Parameters, by Nasal Condition

5.4.3. EPI 14 – Upper Respiratory Tract Infection

EPI 14 was conducted to evaluate the comparative bioavailability of *neffy* 2 mg with and without nasal edema and congestion resulting from an upper respiratory tract infection (URTI). The results from the preliminary data are summarized in Figure 31 and Table 32 based on plasma-concentration vs. time curves and mean change in systolic blood pressure over time and PK parameters. These results support that there was an insignificant impact on the pharmacokinetic or pharmacodynamic results from *neffy* 2 mg with natural infectious rhinitis conditions caused by a cold, flu, sinus infection or other viral infections. This study further supports that the EPI 16 study where subjects were administered *neffy* 2 mg immediately after NAC induction of rhinitis may be worst case conditions and with normal rhinitis conditions that less impact on absorption would be observed.


Figure 31: Plasma Concentration and Systolic Blood Pressure Change vs. time (EPI 14)

Table 32: Summary Statistics of Epinephrine Pharmacokinetic Parameters

Nasal Condition	N	C _{max} (pg/mL) Mean (%CV)	t _{max} (min) Median (range)	AUC _{0-t} (min*pg/mL) Mean (%CV)
ARS-1 2.0 mg with URTI	21	490 (67.2)	45.0 (1.60 - 150)	58700 (60.9)
ARS-1 2.0 mg normal nasal conditions	16	570 (56.1)	45.7 (9.90 - 150)	64400 (53.4)

5.5. Additional Analyses Across Studies

5.5.1. Population PK Modeling (POP PK)

A Population Pharmacokinetic (PPK) and Population Pharmacokinetic/Pharmacodynamics (PPK/PD) Modeling and Simulation were conducted to develop a population PK model to characterize the absorption and disposition of epinephrine in adults after intranasal administration via *neffy* and intramuscular administration via injection including needle/syringe and EpiPen. Leveraging the pharmacokinetic data from *neffy* studies in adults, the PK and PD outcomes for *neffy* were estimated for pediatric subjects with these simulated outcomes based on age groups: 4- <6 y, 6-<12 and 12-18 years.

Pediatric simulations suggest that AUC and C_{max} values overlap with adult AUC and C_{max} values with increasing exposure at lower weights. Changes in SBP and HR values in the pediatric groups overlap with adult values and thus support that the anticipated response based on these surrogate endpoints should be no different in children than adults.

5.5.2. Physiologically Based Absorption Model Analysis

The model first developed in adults appropriately predicted the mean PK behavior as well as the variability. The simulated profiles were comparable to the clinical data and the predicted AUC_{last} and C_{max} values were within 1.5-fold of the observed value for all three clinical trials. Considering all of the above, the model was considered appropriate to predict epinephrine mean and population plasma concentrations after the IN administration of neffy in healthy adults.

The parameters of the population PBAM model for neffy were scaled to pediatrics to bridge the information to this population. Modeling was based on the adult population PK data in healthy subjects and then the inclusion of different scaling factors to extend epinephrine PK into pediatrics from 4 to 17 years of age.

All model development and verification simulations were done using virtual subjects matching as close as possible to those in clinical trials EPI 10 following the clinical study designs. Verification simulations were performed using a population of N=1500 subjects to assess the PK variability and simulated C_{max} , T_{max} and AUC were calculated and compared to the mean observed data.

A comparison of the simulated and observed plasma concentrations of epinephrine after the single IN dosing of neffy in study EPI 10 is shown in Figure 32. Mean observed concentrations of patients in EPI 10 and the predictions using the PBAM model in a virtual population (n =1500) are displayed in Figure 32.





Comparison of epinephrine plasma profiles in pediatrics from study EPI 10 with the PBAM model predictions (the dashed green line is the mean profile from the observation; solid yellow, red and blue lines are the predicted median, mean and 95% PI using the PBAM model). A) 0.65 mg neffy 15-30kg, B) 1 mg neffy >30 kg, C) 2 mg neffy >30 kg

The model appropriately predicted the mean PK behavior in pediatric subjects. Predicted and observed plasma AUC_{last} and C_{max} mean values and T_{max} median values as well as the predicted over observed ratios for AUC_{last} and C_{max} are shown in Table 33.

	Median T _{max} (min)	Mean C _{max} (pg/ml)	ratio	Mean AUC _{last} (pg min/ml)	ratio
PBAM_1 mg_>30kg	26	226	-	18443	-
EPI_10_1 mg_>30kg*	20	253	0.89	14000	1.32
PBAM_2 mg_>30kg	26	408	-	31809	-
EPI_10_2 mg_>30kg*	25	540	0.76	35500	0.90

Table 33: Simulated and Observed Tmax, Cmax and AUC0-t values and Ratios for neffyFollowing a Single Dose in Children from EPI 10

*Mean Cmax and AUClast calculate from non-compartment analysis of individual plasma profiles

Goodness-of-fit plots of predicted versus observed AUC_{last} values and of predicted versus observed C_{max} was assessed. In general, AUC_{last} and Cmax values are within the 1.5-fold range demonstrating the descriptive and predictive performance of *neffy* PBAM model both in adults and pediatrics. Considering all of the above, the model was considered appropriate to predict epinephrine plasma concentrations after the IN administration of *neffy* in adult and pediatric subjects.

For children weighing 15-30 kg a model refinement was needed to capture the mean observations from study EPI 10. For children 15 to <30 kg body weight, a 1 mg dose administered in the nose. For children 30 kg body weight or greater, a 2 mg dose administered in the nose. In order to ensure the safety and efficacy of the selected dose for the pediatric clinical trial the simulated plasma profiles were compared to that in adult healthy subjects after the 2 mg dose.

The predicted exposures, including the 95% confidence intervals are within the expected values from the 2 mg in >30 kg children and 1 mg in 15-30 kg administration of *neffy* in adults. The 2 mg IN dose produces plasma exposures in pediatrics (>30 kg) comparable to that in adults and slightly higher 97.5 percentile in 6-year-old children weighting 30 kg. Similarly, the 1 mg IN dose produces plasma exposures in pediatrics (15-30 kg) comparable to that in adults and slightly higher 97.5 percentile. However, the predicted exposure values in these pediatric scenarios ($2mg_6yrs_30 kg$; EPI10_1mg_15-30kg) were still within the observed exposures reported in the literature for epinephrine administered in different formulations (Moss-2021). Based on this, the predicted exposures are considered appropriate in any case with no safety concerns in any of the predicted groups.

5.5.2.1. Conclusions

In conclusion, this analysis indicates that the predicted exposures in pediatrics are in line with the expected values in adults supporting the 1 mg dose in children 15 to <30 kg and the 2 mg dose for children ≥ 30 kg and the general adolescents and adult populations.

5.5.3. Effect of Weight on Epinephrine Concentration

An exploratory analysis to determine the effect of body weight on C_{max} and AUC_{0-t} was performed as part of the Integrated Pharmacokinetic-Pharmacodynamic Analysis.

Increased body weight was associated with decreased systemic drug exposure (negative regression slope) following treatment with Epinephrine 0.3 mg IM, Epinephrine 0.3 mg IM twice, or EpiPen 0.3 mg twice. In contrast, *neffy* IN dosed once or twice was not shown to be statistically significantly affected by body weight, with P values >0.05 (Table 34).

Unlike bodyweight, there was no consistent relationship between BMI and drug exposure (a mix of negative and positive regression slope amongst the various formulations was observed) (Data not shown but presented in the Integrated Analysis Table 279 and Figures from 289 to 312).

	Co-variate: Body Weight										
	Dependent Variable										
Treatment		Ln(C	C _{max})			Ln(AU	C0-240min)				
		Epine	phrine			Epine	phrine				
	Baseline	Corrected	Το	otal	Baseline	Corrected	To	tal			
	P value	Slope	P value	Slope	P value	Slope	P value	Slope			
neffy 2 mg IN	0.187	-0.01194	0.200	-0.01052	0.918	0.0009762	0.977	0.0002129			
neffy 2 mg IN twice (L/R)	0.498	-0.009521	0.512	-0.008777	0.687	-0.005257	0.751	-0.003722			
neffy 2 mg IN twice (R/R)	0.585	-0.006426	0.566	-0.006591	0.204	-0.01424	0.187	-0.01352			
Epinephrine 0.3 mg IM	0.022	-0.009371	0.014	-0.009016	0.098	-0.005750	0.039	-0.005274			
Epinephrine 0.3 mg IM twice (L/R)	0.037	-0.01237	0.041	-0.01145	0.030	-0.009724	0.036	-0.008087			
EpiPen 0.3 mg	0.942	0.0005607	0.989	0.0001057	0.129	-0.008272	0.071	-0.007702			
EpiPen 0.3 mg twice (L/R)	0.025	-0.01358	0.021	-0.01329	0.268	-0.005487	0.249	-0.004955			

Table 34: Linear Regression of Ln(Cmax) and Ln(AUC0-240min) vs Body Weight (kg) for Total and Baseline Corrected Epinephrine, Sorted by Treatment

5.6. Human Factors

ARS has completed an informative study and two human factor validation studies (a Primary and a Post-Validation Supplemental (Bridging) study) to demonstrate that *neffy* is easily used, and labeling is well understood by patients, caregivers, and passerby persons. The primary Human Factor Validation study was conducted based on the original labeling used in the EPI 12 self-administration clinical trial. The primary Human Factor Validation study included 90 subjects, consisting of 30 severe allergy patients, 30 caregivers, 15 passer-byes (people with no understanding of the disease or epinephrine), 15 medical professionals, and 15 children aged 12 to 17 who were also severe allergy patients. For adult participants there was no training, and they were able to use *neffy* without any notable errors simply by reading the blister package labeling (which would be carried with them) alone during both self-dosing or dosing a simulated patient. Children (severe allergy patients, age 12 to 17 years) were trained in advance of the study and then brought back to dose without further instruction with only the blister package labeling for reference. All children assessed (N=15) were able to use *neffy* correctly in a simulated emergency allergy situation based on prior training and the information on the blister backing (quick reference guide).

After modifications to the Instructions for Use (IFU) and Quick Reference Guide (QRG) to specify to insert the nozzle of the sprayer into the nose until the fingers touch the nose, and to hold straight, as well as improvements to the pictures demonstrating correct and incorrect dosing (based on observations in clinical studies), a Bridging Human Factor Validation Study was conducted in 60 persons with severe allergies to ensure that the labeling improvements did not result in any unanticipated negative outcomes. This bridging study included 60 persons: 15 untrained adult patients who self-administered, 15 untrained adults who were caregivers, 15 adolescents who self-administered without training, and 15 adolescents who self-administered with training. The outcome of this Bridging Human Factor Validation study was that all adults dosed without error and correctly per the IFU and QRG with a high degree of understanding based on the labeling. In trained adolescents, there were no significant errors and good understanding of the labeling. In untrained adolescents there was potential for some subjects to be surprised by the device activation, which in a few cases, caused the sprayer to come out of the nose after activation. Overall, the study demonstrated that all untrained adults can properly dose neffy without training and based on the IFU and QRG. Adolescents who were trained also had no errors, while adolescents who were first time users with no previous experience using the device may experience possible dosing errors by pulling the nozzle out of the nose right after activation. It could not be determined from this study if the behavior would result in any inadequate dosing.

Based on the two Human Factor Validation studies conducted, *neffy* can be easily used by patients, caregivers, adolescents, and passerby persons based on the IFU and QRG. For some adolescents training may be appropriate to gain experience with the device, and ARS is planning to ensure medical professionals train adolescents who may self-administer prior to prescribing

neffy. The updated IFU and QRG were well understood by subjects and did not result in any unanticipated dosing errors.

6. **OVERVIEW OF EFFICACY**

6.1. Overall Pharmacokinetic Assessment

The results of the pharmacokinetic data demonstrated that pharmacokinetics of *neffy* 2 mg once dosing including HCP- and self-administration were well within the range (bracketed by) of injection products as defined by 0.3 mg IM injection with needle and syringe and 0.3 mg EpiPen (Table 21).

neffy 2 mg dosed once and twice (L/R and R/R) were similar in exposure and comparable to EpiPen when dosed twice (R/L). Given there was no statistical difference between *neffy* 2 mg dosed once in each nostril (R/L) or twice in one nostril (R/R), there is no need to instruct users to alternate nostrils which can be a confusing instruction and lead to dosing errors (Table 27).

In studies with twice dosing, *neffy* 2 mg was dose proportional and similar if dosed once in each nostril (L/R) or twice in one nostril (R/R). The exposures from *neffy* 2 mg dosed twice were similar to 0.3 mg EpiPen dosed twice. In all ARS studies, IM injection regardless of device used did not result in proportional increases in exposures (Table 27). If a second dose is needed, the reaction is more serious and *neffy* provides dose proportional second dose, unlike injection products where the second dose is less than dose proportional.

6.2. Overall Pharmacodynamics Assessment

Pharmacodynamic data indicate that *neffy* 2 mg results in pharmacodynamic responses (SBP and HR) that are comparable to EpiPen, and comparable to or better than IM injection with needle and syringe, likely resulting in more consistent activation of α - and β -adrenergic receptors. The comparable PD response of *neffy* relative to EpiPen despite differences in pharmacokinetic results may be due to the route of administration dependent differences in β 2-mediated vasodilation in the thigh. Considering that there may be some degree of mast cell mediator-induced vasodilation occurring during allergic reaction, the *neffy* administration avoiding injection into the thigh should not undermine epinephrine's efficacy.

6.3. Various Case Dosing Assessment

ARS also conducted a GLP study using a dog anaphylaxis model to assess absorption during acute anaphylaxis, clinical studies in subjects with allergic rhinitis (EPI 16) in subjects with upper respiratory tract infections (EPI 14) in order to evaluate the effect of nasal edema and congestion on the absorption of epinephrine administered via *neffy*.

• Dog Anaphylaxis model supports that epinephrine absorption following *neffy* does not appear to be negatively impacted by the hypotension caused by anaphylaxis; and in fact may be enhanced by an increase in vascular permeability.

- NAC induction of rhinitis resulted in more rapid absorption (edema) but more rapid clearance (rhinorrhea). Overall Cmax and tmax were superior to IM injection (needle and syringe). pAUC was greater for *neffy* through 30 to 45 min and absolute concentration was greater through 15 to 20 minutes. Since a second dose is administered 5 to 15 minutes following the initial dose if no effect observed in the first 5 to 10 minutes, this change in PK is not considered to be clinically meaningful and a second dose of *neffy* then injection.
- Infectious Rhinitis (URTI) resulted in less change between normal and rhinitis conditions, compared to NAC induction of rhinitis, where *neffy* was administered immediately after when symptoms of rhinitis and congestion were greatest.

Overall, epinephrine is absorbed at least as well during hypotension caused by anaphylaxis with absorption perhaps being enhanced by an increase in vascular permeability. This increase in absorption was also observed in the study with allergic rhinitis. However, accompanying symptoms such as rhinorrhea may reduce overall exposure. There was no meaningful impact on pharmacokinetics while dosing *neffy* in patients with URTI. There is a low risk from Rhinitis anticipated and there is only negative impact on pharmacokinetics when rhinorrhea is present. However, *neffy* concentrations in all scenarios are greater than IM injection for at least the first 15 to 20 minutes, during which a second dose is administered if no observed effect in 5-15 minutes (current treatment guidelines and labeling).

7. OVERVIEW OF SAFETY

7.1. Relevant Animal Toxicity and Product Quality Information

The toxicology of epinephrine is well understood in the literature and epinephrine is an approved product in many countries. The *neffy* formulated with 0.25% DDM has been evaluated after intranasal administration in rats at concentrations up to 0.8 mg. At doses higher than the human therapeutic doses, a 2-year carcinogenicity study with epinephrine injection, showed no carcinogenic effects in male or female F344/N rats exposed to aerosols containing 1.5 or 5 mg/m³ l- epinephrine for 2 years or in B6C3F1 mice exposed to 1.5 or 3 mg/m³ l-epinephrine for 2 years (Dietz-1990).

Single intranasal instillation of *neffy* in a rat at a dose up to 0.8 mg was not associated with any adverse findings. Some microscopic changes in the nasal passages were indicative of minor irritation caused by the test article but were fully healed with no visible sequelae at 15 days. Given these microscopic changes were expected from the absorption enhancing agent, Intravail (dodecyl-maltoside) and due to their low severity, limited distribution, and reversibility, these changes were not considered to be adverse. Based upon the results of this study a NOAEL of 0.8 mg administered as a single intranasal instillation was established in the rat.

While there are published nonclinical studies with epinephrine dosed in various animal models there is no anticipated risk of toxicity in humans at the doses being administered where levels are within the normal endogenous level of the body. In addition, the nonclinical pharmacology, pharmacokinetics, and toxicological profile of epinephrine by the IV, IM, SC, and inhalation routes of administration have been evaluated, are found in the literature, and were part of several approved MAA, NDA, and ANDA applications.

The collective nonclinical data supports an acceptable level of safety for *neffy* considering the extensive clinical experience with epinephrine and ARS clinical studies in more than 550 individuals and more than 1069 administrations of *neffy*, including repeat dosing up to 4 mg.

7.2. Safety of *neffy* in Clinical Studies

Fifteen pharmacokinetic/safety studies were completed with *neffy* in healthy volunteers (EPI 03, EPI 06, EPI 07, EPI 11, EPI 11b, and EPI 15), in patients with Type I allergies (EPI 09, EPI 12, EPI 13, EPI 14, and EPI 17), in patients with allergic rhinitis (EPI 04, EPI 16, and EPI JP 01), and pediatric patients with Type I allergies (EPI 10 - study is ongoing at the time of this NDA). These referenced studies were conducted with the commercial formulation of *neffy*, as well as formulations that contained varied concentrations of the excipient dodecylmaltoside (DDM) (0.25% - 0.35%), which bracket the commercial formulation concentration of DDM (0.275%).

7.2.1. Demographics and Extent of Exposure

7.2.1.1. Extent of Exposure in Pivotal Safety Studies

A cumulative total dosing exposure was evaluated on a study population which consisted of approximately 600 subjects that were enrolled and received at least one dose of *neffy* in the studies in primary PK/PD studies EPI 15, EPI 16, EPI 17, and EPI 10 (interim pediatric study); supportive PK/PD studies EPI 03, EPI 04, EPI 07, EPI JP01, EPI 11b, EPI 12, and EPI 14; and the non-supportive PK/PD studies EPI 06, EPI 09, EPI 11, and EPI 13. Due to the crossover design of each study, subjects received more than one exposure to *neffy* per study, for a total of 1127 total exposures to *neffy* across the fifteen studies.

7.2.1.2. Demographic and Other Characteristics from Primary *neffy* 2 mg Studies (EPI 15, EPI 16, and EPI 17)

In support of the intended commercial dose of *neffy*, an integrated safety analysis of the primary studies using *neffy* 2 mg was also conducted. The 2 mg primary studies safety analysis pools data from studies EPI 15, EPI 16, and EPI 17 and compares the AEs of single dose *neffy* (2 mg) and repeat dose *neffy* (4 mg) to the injectable epinephrine control arms. The analysis pools the subjects with and without rhinitis. The N size for the analysis is the number of subjects per each treatment received and not the number of exposures (i.e., unique subjects only).

The relevant demographic, baseline, and other characteristics collected from the pooled safety population include age in years, age in groups, sex (gender), races, and ethnicities and are summarized below, as well as in Table 35.

	neffy	Nasal	Epineph	rine IM	EpiPen		
Demographic	2 mg ¹ (N=134) n(%)	4 mg ² (N=42) n(%)	0.3 mg (n = 134) n(%)	0.5 mg (n = 35) n(%)	0.3 mg (n = 55) n(%)	0.6 mg (L/R) ³ (n = 42) n(%)	
Age (Years)							
Mean (SD)	39.5 (9.10)	39.8 (8.98)	39.8 (8.94)	38.1 (8.15)	41.1 (9.68)	39.8 (8.98)	
Median	40.0	39.0	40.0	38.0	43.0	39.0	
Minimum, Maximum	20,54	25,54	20,54	20,52	22,54	25,54	
Sex							
Male	82 (61.2)	30 (71.4)	81 (60.4)	19 (54.3)	37 (67.3)	30 (71.4)	
Female	52 (38.8)	12 (28.6)	53 (39.6)	16 (45.7)	18 (32.7)	12 (28.6)	
Race							
White	61 (45.5)	20 (47.6)	61 (45.5)	15 (42.9)	32 (58.2)	20 (47.6)	
Black or African American	40 (29.9)	15 (35.7)	41 (30.6)	8 (22.9)	16 (29.1)	15 (35.7)	
Asian	18 (13.4)	4 (9.5)	17 (12.7)	8 (22.9)	4 (7.3)	4 (9.5)	
American Indian or Alaska Native	3 (2.2)	0 (0.0)	3 (2.2)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	
Native Hawaiian or Other Pacific Islander	2 (1.5)	0 (0.0)	2 (1.5)	1 (2.9)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	
Other	10 (7.5)	3 (7.1)	10 (7.5)	3 (8.6)	3 (5.5)	3 (7.1)	
Ethnicity							
Hispanic or Latino	39 (29.1)	15 (35.7)	40 (29.9)	5 (14.3)	24 (43.6)	15 (35.7)	
Not Hispanic or Latino	95 (70.9)	27 (64.3)	94 (70.1)	30 (85.7)	31 (56.4)	27 (64.3)	

Table 35: Demographic Profile of Patients in Controlled Trials by Pooled Treatment Safety Population - EPI 15, EPI 16, and EPI 17

N = Unique subjects only

¹ neffy 2 mg dose includes subjects that received a single 2 mg dose with and without rhinitis.

² *neffy* 4 mg dose includes subjects that received two 2 mg doses spaced 10 minutes apart.

³ EpiPen 0.6 mg includes subjects that received two 0.3 mg doses spaced 10 minutes apart.

7.2.2. Overall Adverse Events Experience

7.2.2.1. Integrated Summary of Safety

The majority of the AEs events that occurred during the clinical trials are consistent with the known AEs for epinephrine and nasal spray applications. No AEs of particular concern were observed.

Increases in blood pressure and heart rate occurred in most subjects and is expected given this is the pharmacological effect of epinephrine and is one of the primary goals when treating an allergic reaction. The effect of epinephrine on the blood pressure and heart rate was a focus of all studies and thus collected and reported as part of safety and efficacy evaluations. Throughout all studies, there was no increase in blood pressure or heart rate that required medical intervention, and the increases were generally mild and resolved quickly. When considering the intended commercial dose of *neffy* 2 mg, the majority of the AEs were mild in severity. A list of moderate and severe events are presented in the Table 36 and Table 37, respectively. All of the severe events shown in Table 37 occurred in the EPI 17 study. All events were resolved within the same day except for headache and vomiting which occurred following Epinephrine 0.3 mg IM injection.

	neffy 2 mg (N=134)	Epinephrine 0.3 mg IM (N=274)	Epinephrine 0.3 mg IM twice (N=70)
Headache	-	2	-
Vomiting	1	1	1
Dizziness	1	-	-
Presyncope	-	1	-
Heart rate decrease	1	-	-
Hypotension	-	1	-

Table 36: List of Moderate Adverse Events

Table 37: List of Severe Adverse Events

	neffy 2 mg	Epinephrine 0.3 mg IM
	(N=134)	(N=274)
Blood pressure decreased	-	1
Asthenia	-	1
Ѕупсоре	1	1
Hypotension	1	-

Note: all severe AEs occurred in a single study, EPI 17.

Twice dosing in the ARS primary studies with *neffy* 2 mg giving a total dose of 4 mg epinephrine in 10 minutes, resulted in 100% of events being mild and expected for epinephrine. There were no moderate or severe events with *neffy* 2 mg given twice. There was 1 moderate event in 1 subject with 0.3 mg IM given twice, which was vomiting.

The remaining AEs in the clinical studies seen were similar between *neffy* and the epinephrine injections included in the clinical studies.

There were no clinically meaningful differences in the safety profile of *neffy* seen between the studies.

7.2.2.2. Common Adverse Events from *neffy* Primary 2 mg Clinical Trials (Integrated Summary of Safety of EPI 15, EPI 16, and EPI 17)

There were no adverse reactions observed in $\geq 10\%$ of subjects in the *neffy* 2 mg treatment group.

Other Adverse Reactions ($\geq 1\%$ and < 10%)

Other common adverse reactions that occurred in more than ≥ 2 subjects and observed in $\ge 1\%$ and < 10% of subjects in the *neffy* 2 mg group were as follows:

- Nasal discomfort (9.7%)
- Headache (6.0%)
- Rhinorrhea (3.0%)
- Nausea (2.2%)
- Throat irritation (1.5%)
- Dizziness (1.5%)

A display of treatment-related AEs (TEAEs) occurring in >1% frequency and occurrence rates from the pooled primary 2 mg studies is presented by treatment in Table 38.

Table 38: Incidence of Treatment-Related Treatment-Emergent Adverse Events - Pooled Population for EPI 15, EPI 16, and EPI 17

	ne	ffy	Epinephrine IM		EpiPen		
System Organ Class Preferred Term	2 mg ¹ (N=134) n(%)	4 mg ² (N=42) n(%)	0.3 mg (n = 134) n(%)	0.5 mg (n = 35) n(%)	0.3 mg (n = 55) n(%)	0.6 mg (L/R) ³ (n = 42) n(%)	
Subjects with at least One Adverse Event	30 (22.4)	6 (14.3)	9 (6.7)	0 (0.0)	2 (3.6)	1 (2.4)	
Respiratory, Thoracic and Mediastinal Disorders	18 (13.4)	3 (7.1)	1 (0.7)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	
Nasal Discomfort	13 (9.7)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	
Rhinorrhea	4 (3.0)	2 (4.8)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	
Throat Irritation	2 (1.5)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	
Nervous System Disorders	10 (7.5)	4 (9.5)	5 (3.7)	0 (0.0)	1 (1.8)	0 (0.0)	
Headache	8 (6.0)	3 (7.1)	3 (2.2)	0 (0.0)	1 (1.8)	0 (0.0)	
Dizziness	2 (1.5)	0 (0.0)	2 (1.5)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	
Gastrointestinal Disorders	3 (2.2)	1 (2.4)	6 (4.5)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	
Nausea	3 (2.2)	0 (0.0)	4 (3.0)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	
Vomiting	1 (0.7)	0 (0.0)	2 (1.5)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	
Investigations	1 (0.7)	0 (0.0)	2 (1.5)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	
Blood Pressure Decreased	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	2 (1.5)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	
Skin and Subcutaneous Tissue Disorders	1 (0.7)	0 (0.0)	3 (2.2)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	
Hyperhidrosis	1 (0.7)	0 (0.0)	3 (2.2)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	
Vascular Disorders	1 (0.7)	0 (0.0)	2 (1.5)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	

	neffy		Epinephrine IM		EpiPen	
System Organ Class Preferred Term	2 mg ¹ (N=134) n(%)	4 mg ² (N=42) n(%)	0.3 mg (n = 134) n(%)	0.5 mg (n = 35) n(%)	0.3 mg (n = 55) n(%)	0.6 mg (L/R) ³ (n = 42) n(%)
Hypotension	1 (0.7)	0 (0.0)	2 (1.5)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)
Cardiac Disorders	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	2 (1.5)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)
Palpitations	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	2 (1.5)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)

N = Unique subjects only

Note: MedDRA version 22 used for coding. Events with frequency 1% or greater are reported. Subjects with two or more adverse events in the same system organ class (or with the same preferred term) are counted only once for that system organ class (or preferred term).

¹ neffy 2 mg dose includes subjects that received a single 2 mg dose with and without rhinitis.

² neffy 4 mg dose includes subjects that received two 2 mg doses spaced 10 minutes apart.

³ EpiPen 0.6 mg includes subjects that received two 0.3 mg doses spaced 10 minutes apart.

7.2.2.3. Discussion of Adverse Reactions

Based on the integrated analysis from the primary 2 mg studies (EPI 15, EPI 16, and EPI 17), most of the events were mild and no adverse reactions were seen in greater than 10% of the subjects in any treatment group. The most common adverse reaction seen in the *neffy* groups including with and without rhinitis were nasal discomfort. The rest of the adverse reactions observed at greater than 1% (and in more than one subject) were headache, rhinorrhea, nausea, throat irritation, and dizziness.

There were a few moderate and severe events reported, which mostly occurred in one subjects and were comparable to injections.

7.2.2.3.1. Pediatric Patients

There are no known differences in the AEs profile in pediatrics versus adults (Simons-1998, Simons-2002). As demonstrated in EPI 10, *neffy* 2 mg may be used in persons \geq 30 kg body weight. During the conduct of EPI 10, there were two moderate TEAEs (nasal discomfort and sneezing following administration of *neffy* 2 mg in one subject \geq 30 kg). All other TEAEs were considered mild, and none were serious, life-threatening, or resulted in death. Adverse events occurring in pediatric subjects are summarized in Table 39.

Currently, the EPI 10 study is complete with the full 21 subjects enrolled in the 30 kg or greater body weight group with *neffy* 2 mg. Further, ARS has completed 21 subjects in the 15 to <30 kg group with *neffy* 1 mg dose and a supplemental NDA application is planned to be file for this lower dose and lower weight population if current application is approved.

Preferred Term	neffy 0.65 mg (N=12) n(%)	neffy 1.0 mg (N=18) n(%)	<i>neffy</i> 1.0 mg (N=26) n(%)	<i>neffy</i> 2.0 mg (N=21) n(%)
	(15- <	30 kg)	(≥ 3	0 kg)
Respiratory, Thorac	cic and Mediastinal	Disorders		
Nasal discomfort	1 (8.3)	1 (5.6)	3 (11.5)	4 (19.0)
Rhinorrhoea	1 (8.3)	1 (5.6)	3 (11.5)	3 (14.3)
Rhinalgia	0 (0.0)	1 (5.6)	2 (7.7)	2 (9.5)
Sneezing	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	2 (7.7)	3 (14.3)
Intranasal paraesthesia	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	4 (19.0)
Oropharyngeal pain	0 (0.0)	1 (5.6)	2 (7.7)	1 (4.8)
Throat irritation	2 (16.7)	1 (5.6)	<mark>0 (</mark> 0.0)	1 (4.8)
Epistaxis	1 (8.3)	0 (0.0)	<mark>0 (</mark> 0.0)	2 (9.5)
Dry throat	0 (0.0)	2 (11.1)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)
Nasal congestion	0 (0.0)	1 (5.6)	<mark>0 (</mark> 0.0)	1 (4.8)
Nasal dryness	0 (0.0)	2 (11.1)	<mark>0 (</mark> 0.0)	0 (0.0)
Nasal mucosal disorder	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	2 (7.7)	0 (0.0)
Pharyngeal paraesthesia	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	1 (3.8)	1 (4.8)
Upper-airway cough syndrome	0 (0.0)	1 (5.6)	1 (3.8)	0 (0.0)
Nervous System Dis	sorders			
Paraesthesia	0 (0.0)	2 (11.1)	1 (3.8)	2 (9.5)
Taste disorder	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	2 (7.7)	0 (0.0)
General Disorders a	and Administration	Site Conditions		
Fatigue	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	2 (9.5)
Feeling jittery	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	2 (9.5)
Eye Disorders				
Lacrimation increased	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	2 (7.7)	1 (4.8)
Ocular hyperaemia	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	2 (7.7)	0 (0.0)

Table 39:	Adverse	Events	Occurring	in ≥2	Pediatric	Subjects
-----------	---------	--------	-----------	-------	-----------	----------

7.2.3. Additional Safety Observations from Clinical Trials

7.2.3.1. Nasal Symptoms and Pain

Nasal symptoms, when observed, were generally mild across all treatment groups and doses. Nasal pain was mild with VAS scored 5 mm to 8 mm out of 100 mm in ARS studies.

7.3. Cmax versus Emax Analysis

 E_{max} models for the maximum change from baseline SBP versus C_{max} are presented in Figure 33 for *neffy* and EpiPen.

Scatter plots from E_{max} model demonstrate maximum increase in SBP at C_{max} of approximately 1000 pg/mL, and that further increase in plasma epinephrine levels did not translate into additional increases unless intra-blood vessel administration as presented in the Section 4.1.

Figure 33: E_{max} Model: neffy and EpiPen, Maximum Change from Baseline Systolic Blood Pressure vs C_{max}



Symptoms of a Type I allergic reaction are often variable, and it can be difficult to predict severity and rate of progression of an episode. Because the clinical course of anaphylaxis can be unpredictable, prompt and early use of epinephrine should be considered even with mild symptoms or single-system involvement. In the absence of clinical improvement, guidelines for the treatment of anaphylaxis recommend administering repeated doses of epinephrine every 5 to 15 minutes.

Although the importance of early epinephrine treatment has been emphasized in literature and guidelines as well as approved epinephrine labeling or guidelines that instruct dosing immediately after symptoms of an allergic reaction are detected, many patients/caregivers either

do not administer treatment entirely or delay the use of epinephrine autoinjectors (EAIs) until symptoms progress to a more severe state, even when the patient or caregiver knows they are having a severe allergic reaction. These limitations are primarily driven by fear of the needle (needle phobia), concerns about safety, complexity of the device and concerns about having to go to the emergency room (ER) after dosing, often resulting in hesitancy to use the devices, delayed treatment, and an increased risk of serious complications and hospitalizations. As a result of these limitations, a significant proportion of the approximate 25 to 40 million patients at risk of severe Type I allergic reactions in the United States do not receive or fill prescriptions for intramuscular injection products, such as EpiPen or generic equivalents and therefore there is a significant unmet need to address those issues, with a needle-free option.

The pharmacokinetic data from the clinical pharmacology studies demonstrate that a 2 mg dose of *neffy* provided exposures that are bracketed by currently approved injection products (higher and more rapid exposures compared to 0.3 mg dose of epinephrine delivered by intramuscular (IM) administration to ensure efficacy and lower exposures than EpiPen 0.3 mg to ensure safety). When administered twice, *neffy* resulted in a dose proportional increase in epinephrine concentrations, whereas injection did not give proportional increases in exposure.

The pharmacodynamic results were mostly comparable between *neffy* and EpiPen despite the slightly higher and faster pharmacokinetic profile of EpiPen. The smaller drop in the DBP that helped to increase SBP efficiently following *neffy* as compared to injection products may be attributed to avoiding injection into the skeletal muscle in the thigh that promotes β_2 -mediated vasodilation in and blood flow into the skeletal muscle.

While the mean increases in SBP are greater than that observed with injection, the maximum change in SBP in any individual subject is similar between treatments and there were no indications that the more rapid and greater mean pharmacodynamic effect poses any safety risk to patient experiencing a severe systemic allergic reaction. More likely the more efficient mean pharmacodynamic response of *neffy* may represent a potential improved effect based on time to onset, peak response, and a higher proportion of people having a positive hemodynamic response rapidly after administration. This is especially relevant when a second dose is needed due to a more severe event or due to delay in treatment.

Both POP PK and PBAM modeling studies, as well as literature, support that the use of *neffy* 2 mg should be acceptable in children aged 12 years or greater who are at least 30 kg body weight.

Both the anaphylaxis dog model and clinical study with induced allergic rhinitis demonstrated that epinephrine absorption with *neffy* is increased compared to IM injection for at least the first 15 minutes after administration, which is when the efficacy of a single dose of epinephrine is observed, prior to a second dose being given.

neffy demonstrated acceptable safety profile that were mostly mild and comparable to that of injection products.

Taken together, *neffy* demonstrated comparable pharmacokinetic, pharmacodynamic, and safety profile to that of injection products and therefore patients and caregiver would benefit from this easy-to-use and needle-free option when they need emergency treatment. The many patients and caregivers who cannot accept use of a needle-bearing device currently have no other treatment options. *neffy* may potentially fill that unmet medical need.

9. **REFERENCES**

Epinephrine – Epinephrine Injection Prescribing Information. Par Pharmaceutical, Inc. Jan 2019.

Asthma and Allergy Foundation of America. My Life with Food Allergy Parent Survey Report. Asthma and Allergy Foundation of America. 2019.

Andrew E, Nehme Z, Bernard S, Smith K. Pediatric Anaphylaxis in the Prehospital Setting: Incidence, Characteristics, and Management. Prehosp Emerg Care. 2018 Jul-Aug;22(4):445-451.

Anshien M, Rose SR, Wills BK. Unintentional Epinephrine Auto-injector Injuries: A National Poison Center Observational Study. Am J Ther. 2019 Jan/Feb;26(1):e110-e114.

Arkwright PD. Automatic epinephrine device use in children with food allergies. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2009 Jan;123(1):267-8; author reply 268.

Ben-Shoshan M, La Vieille S, Eisman H, Alizadehfar R, Mill C, Perkins E, Joseph L, Morris J, Clarke A. Anaphylaxis treated in a Canadian pediatric hospital: Incidence, clinical characteristics, triggers, and management. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2013 Sep;132(3):739-741.e3.

Boswell B, Rudders SA, Brown JC. Emerging therapies in anaphylaxis: alternatives to intramuscular administration of epinephrine. Current Allergy and Asthma Reports. 2021 Mar;21:1-9.

Brooks C, Coffman A, Erwin E, Mikhail I. Diagnosis and treatment of food allergic reactions in pediatric emergency settings. Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol. 2017 Nov;119(5):467-468.

Brown AFT. Therapeutic controversies in the management of acute anaphylaxis. Accid Emerg Med 1998;15:89-95.

Brown SGA. Clinical features and severity grading of anaphylaxis. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2004; August 371-376.

Brown S, Mullins R. Anaphylaxis: diagnosis and management. MJA Practice Essentials - Allergy. Sept 2006;185(5):283-289.

Brown JC, Simons E, Rudders SA. Epinephrine in the Management of Anaphylaxis. J Allergy Clin Immunol Pract. 2020;8(4):1186-1195.

Brown JC, Tuuri RE, Akhter S, Guerra LD, Goodman IS, Myers SR, Nozicka C, Manzi S, Long K, Turner T, Conners GP, Thompson RW, Park E. Lacerations and Embedded Needles Caused by Epinephrine Autoinjector Use in Children. Ann Emerg Med. 2016 Mar;67(3):307-315.e8.

Calmet H, Inthavong K, Eguzkitza B, Lehmkuhl O, Houzeaux G, Vázquez M. Nasal sprayed particle deposition in a human nasal cavity under different inhalation conditions. PLOS One. 2019 Sep 6;14(9):e0221330.

Campbell RL, Bashore CJ, Lee S, Bellamkonda VR, Li JT, Hagan JB, Lohse CM, Bellolio MF. Predictors of Repeat Epinephrine Administration for Emergency Department Patients with Anaphylaxis. J Allergy Clin Immunol Pract. 2015b Jul-Aug;3(4):576-84.

Cardona V, Ferré-Ybarz L, Guilarte M, Moreno-Pérez N, Gómez-Galán C, Alcoceba-Borràs E, Delavalle MB, Garriga-Baraut T; AdreSCAIC Research Group. Safety of epinephrine use in anaphylaxis: a multicentre register. Int Arch Allergy Immunol. 2017;173(3):171-177.

Cardona V, Ansotegui IJ, Ebisawa M, El-Gamal Y, Fernandez Rivas M, Fineman S, Geller M, Gonzalez-Estrada A, Greenberger PA, Sanchez Borges M, Senna G, Sheikh A, Tanno LK, Thong BY, Turner PJ, Worm M. World allergy organization anaphylaxis guidance 2020. World Allergy Organ J. 2020 Oct 30;13(10):100472.

Casale TB, Wang J, Oppenheimer J, Nowak-Wegrzyn A. Acute At-Home Management of Anaphylaxis: 911: What Is the Emergency? J Allergy Clin Immunol Pract. 2022 May 13:S2213-2198(22)00485-8.

Chaaban M, Warren Z, Baillargeon J, Baillargeon G, Resto V, Kuo YF. Epidemiology and trends of anaphylaxis in the United States, 2004-2016. International Forum of Allergy & Rhinology. 2019 Vol oo No o.

Chad L, Ben-Shoshan M, Asai Y, Cherkaoui S, Alizadehfar R, St-Pierre Y, Harada L, Allen M, Clarke A. A majority of parents of children with peanut allergy fear using the epinephrine autoinjector. Allergy. 2013 Dec;68(12):1605-9.

Cohen JS, Agbim C, Hrdy M, Mottla ME, Goyal MK, Breslin K. Epinephrine autoinjector prescription filling after pediatric emergency department discharge. Allergy Asthma Proc. 2021 Mar 1;42(2):142-146.

De Swert LF, Bullens D, Raes M, Dermaux AM. Anaphylaxis in referred pediatric patients: demographic and clinical features, triggers, and therapeutic approach. Eur J Pediatr. 2008 Nov;167(11):1251-61

Dietz D. NTP toxicology and carcinogenesis studies of l-epinephrine hydrochloride (CAS No. 55-31-2) in F344/N rats and B6C3F1 mice (inhalation studies). Natl Toxicol Program Tech Rep Ser. 1990 Mar;380:1-205.

Ebisawa, M., Kallner, M., Lowenthal, R., & Tanimoto, S. Accidental intravascular auto-injection of epinephrine (adrenaline) rapidly increases pharmacokinetic and hemodynamic parameters. Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology, February 2022 149 (2).

El Turki A, Smith H, Llewellyn C, Jones CJ. A systematic review of patients', parents' and healthcare professionals' epinephrine auto-injector administration techniques. Emerg Med J. 2017 Jun;34(6):403-416.

EpiPen - epinephrine injection. Mylan Specialty. L.P. June 2020.

Fleischer DM, Perry TT, Atkins D, Wood RA, Burks AW, Jones SM, Henning AK, Stablein D, Sampson HA, Sicherer SH. Allergic reactions to foods in preschool-aged children in a prospective observational food allergy study. Pediatrics. 2012 Jul;130(1):e25-32.

Fleming JT, Clark S, Camargo CA Jr, Rudders SA. Early treatment of food-induced anaphylaxis with epinephrine is associated with a lower risk of hospitalization. J Allergy Clin Immunol Pract. 2015 Jan-Feb;3(1):57-62.

Frank DO, Kimbell JS, Pawar S, Rhee JS. Effects of anatomy and particle size on nasal sprays and nebulizers. Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg. 2012 Feb;146(2):313-9.

Gold MS, Sainsbury R. First aid anaphylaxis management in children who were prescribed an epinephrine autoinjector device (EpiPen). J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2000 Jul;106(1 Pt 1):171-6.

Grabenhenrich LB, Dölle S, Ruëff F, Renaudin JM, Scherer K, Pföhler C, Treudler R, Koehli A, Mahler V, Spindler T, Lange L, Bilò MB, Papadopoulos NG, Hourihane JOB, Lang R, Fernández-Rivas M, Christoff G, Cichocka-Jarosz E, Worm M. Epinephrine in Severe Allergic Reactions: The European Anaphylaxis Register. J Allergy Clin Immunol Pract. 2018 Nov-Dec;6(6):1898-1906.e1.

Guerlain S, Wang L, Hugine A. Intelliject's novel epinephrine autoinjector: sharps injury prevention validation and comparable analysis with EpiPen and Twinject. Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol. 2010 Dec;105(6):480-4.

Hochstadter E, Clarke A, De Schryver S, La Vieille S, Alizadehfar R, Joseph L, Eisman H, Ben-Shoshan M. Increasing visits for anaphylaxis and the benefits of early epinephrine administration: A 4-year study at a pediatric emergency department in Montreal, Canada. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2016 Jun;137(6):1888-1890.e4.

Hogan RE, Gidal BE, Koplowitz B, Koplowitz LP, Lowenthal RE, Carrazana E. Bioavailability and safety of diazepam intranasal solution compared to oral and rectal diazepam in healthy volunteers. Epilepsia. 2020;61:455–464.

Jerschow E, Lin RY, Scaperotti MM, McGinn AP. Fatal anaphylaxis in the United States, 1999-2010: temporal patterns and demographic associations. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2014 Dec;134(6):1318-1328.e7.

Kapoor M, Cloyd JC, Siegel RA. A review of intranasal formulations for the treatment of seizure emergencies. Journal of Controlled Release. 2016; 237: 147-159.

Kim H, Dinakar C, McInnis P, Rudin D, Benain X, Daley W, Platz E. Inadequacy of current pediatric epinephrine autoinjector needle length for use in infants and toddlers. Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol. 2017 Jun;118(6):719-725.e1.

Klabundel, R PhD. Cardiovascular Physiology Concepts (Lippincott Connect) (Third ed.). 2021. LWW.

Kondo A, Ishikawa K, Nagasawa H, Takeuchi I, Jitsuiki K, Ohsaka H, Omori K, Yanagawa Y. An Analysis of Patients with Anaphylaxis Treated by a Physician-Staffed Helicopter. Air Med J. 2018 Jul-Aug;37(4):259-263.

Lee M, Stukus DR. Pre-hospital use of epinephrine for treatment of anaphylaxis in children and adolescents [abstract]. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2015;(suppl 1): 205.

Lieberman P, Simons FE. Anaphylaxis - a practice parameter update 2015. Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol. 2015;115:341-384.

Lindbeck G, Burns DM, Rockwell DD. Out-of hospital Provider Use of Epinephrine for Allergic Reactions: Pilot Program. Academic Emergency Medicine. 1995; Vol 2/No 7; 592–596.

Lipton RB, Munjal S, Brand-Schieber E, Rapoport AM. DFN-02 (sumatriptan 10 mg with a permeation enhancer) nasal spray vs placebo in the acute treatment of migraine: a double-blind, placebo-controlled study. Headache. 2018;58:676-687.

Liu X, Lee S, Lohse CM, Hardy CT, Campbell RL. Biphasic Reactions in Emergency Department Anaphylaxis Patients: A Prospective Cohort Study. J Allergy Clin Immunol Pract. 2020 Apr;8(4):1230-1238.

Lockey R, Kliner M, Ebisawa M, Lowenthal R, Tanimoto S. Comparison of Pharmacokinetic Parameters and Intra-Blood Vessel Injection Rates Between Manual IM injection and Epinephrine Auto-Injectors. Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology. 2022 Feb;149, Issue 2, AB3

Ma L, Danoff T, Borish L. Case Fatality and Population Mortality Associated with Anaphylaxis in the United States. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2014 April; 133 (4) 1075-1083.

Macmillan AJ, Phoon KM, Edafe O. Safety of topical administration of nasal decongestants and vasoconstrictors in paediatric nasal surgery - A systematic review. Int J Pediatr Otorhinolaryngol. 2022 Feb;153:111010.

Maggio ET. Absorption enhancing excipients in systemic nasal drug delivery. IPEC-Americas Inc. 2014; J. Excipients and Food Chem.5(2): 100-112.

Mink SN, Simons FER, Simons KJ, Becker AB, Duke K. Constant infusion of epinephrine, but not bolus treatment, improves haemodynamic recovery in anaphylactic shock in dogs. Clin Exp Allergy 2004; 34:1776–1783.

Moss RB, Daniels K, Moll T, Carlo DJ. Human factors study in untrained adolescents comparing a recently approved single-dose epinephrine prefilled syringe with an approved autoinjector. Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol. 2018 May;120(5):540-541.

Moss J, Jani Y, Edwards B, Tomlin S, Rashed AN. Pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic evidence of epinephrine administered via auto-injector for anaphylactic reactions: A review of literature. British Journal of Clinical Pharmacology. 2021;87(3):816–824.

Munjal S, Brand-Schieber E, Allenby K, Spierings LH, Cady RK, Rapoport AM. A multicenter, open-label, long-term safety and tolerability study of DFN-02, an intranasal spray of sumatriptan 10 mg plus permeation enhancer DDM, for the acute treatment of episodic migraine. The Journal of Headache and Pain. 2017;18:31.

Muraro A, Worm M, Alviani C, Cardona V, DunnGalvin A, Garvey LH, Riggioni C, et al. European Academy of Allergy and Clinical Immunology, Food Allergy, Anaphylaxis Guidelines Group. EAACI guidelines: Anaphylaxis (2021 update). Allergy. 2022 Feb;77(2):357-377.

Nogic C, Belousoff J, Krieser D. The diagnosis and management of children presenting with anaphylaxis to a metropolitan emergency department: A 2-year retrospective case series. J Paediatr Child Health. 2016 May;52(5):487-92.

Noimark L, Wales J, Du Toit G, Pastacaldi C, Haddad D, Gardner J, Hyer W, Vance G, Townshend C, Alfaham M, Arkwright PD, Rao R, Kapoor S, Summerfield A, Warner JO, Roberts G. The use of epinephrine autoinjectors by children and teenagers. Clin Exp Allergy. 2012 Feb;42(2):284-92.

Oren E, Banerji A, Clark S, Camargo CA Jr. Food-induced anaphylaxis and repeated epinephrine treatments. Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol. 2007 Nov;99(5):429-32.

Oya S, Kinoshita K, Daya M, Kinoshita H. Characteristics of Anaphylactic Reactions: A Prospective Observational Study in Japan. J Emerg Med. 2020 Dec;59(6):812-819.

Patel N, Chong KW, Yip AYG, Ierodiakonou D, Bartra J, Boyle RJ, Turner PJ. Use of multiple epinephrine doses in anaphylaxis: A systematic review and meta-analysis. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2021 Nov;148(5):1307-1315.

Peavy RD, Metcalfe DD. Understanding the mechanisms of anaphylaxis. Curr Opin Allergy Clin Immunol. 2008 Aug; 8(4): 310–315.

Poirot E, He F, Gould LH, Hadler JL. Deaths, Hospitalizations, and Emergency Department Visits From Food-Related Anaphylaxis, New York City, 2000-2014: Implications for Fatality Prevention. J Public Health Manag Pract. 2020 Nov/Dec;26(6):548-556.

Prince BT, Mikhail I, Stukus DR. Underuse of epinephrine for the treatment of anaphylaxis: missed opportunities. J Asthma Allergy. 2018 Jun 20;11:143-151.

Pumphrey RS. Lessons for management of anaphylaxis from a study of fatal reactions. Clin Exp Allergy. 2000 Aug;30(8):1144-50.

Sampson HA, Mendelson L, Rosen JP. Fatal and near-fatal anaphylactic reactions to food in children and adolescents. N Engl J Med. 1992 Aug 6;327(6):380-4.

Shaker MS, Wallace DV, Golden DBK, Oppenheimer J, Bernstein JA, et. al. Anaphylaxis-a 2020 practice parameter update, systematic review, and Grading of Recommendations, Assessment, Development and Evaluation (GRADE) analysis. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2020 Apr;145(4):1082-1123.

Sicherer S, Simons E. Epinephrine for First-aid Management of Anaphylaxis. American Academy of Pediatrics. 2017; Vol 139: no 3: e1-e11

Simons FER, Roberts JR, Gu X, Simons K. Epinephrine absorption in children with a history of anaphylaxis. J allergy clin immunol. Jan 1998;101(1):33-37.

Simons FE, Ardusso LR, Bilò MB, et al. World allergy organization guidelines for the assessment and management of anaphylaxis. World Allergy Organ J. 2011;4(2):13-37.

Simons FER, Xiaochen G, Silver NA, Simons KJ. EpiPen Jr versus EpiPen in young children weighing 15 to 30 kg at risk for anaphylaxis. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2002;109:171-5.

Simons FER. Anaphylaxis, killer allergy: Long-term management in the community. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2006;117:367-77.

Soller L, Teoh T, Baerg I, Wong T, Hildebrand KJ, Cook VE, Biggs CM, Lee N, Yaworski L, Cameron SB, Chan ES. Extended analysis of parent and child confidence in recognizing anaphylaxis and using the epinephrine autoinjector during oral food challenges. J Allergy Clin Immunol Pract. 2019 Feb;7(2):693-695.

Søreide E, Buxrud T, Harboe S. Severe anaphylactic reactions outside hospital: etiology, symptoms and treatment. Acta Anaesthesiol Scand 1988;32:339-342.

Tang Mimi L.K, Osborne N, Allen K. Epidemiology of anaphylaxis. Current Opinion in Allergy and Clinical Immunology. 2009, 9:351-356.

Tanimoto S, MD, PhD, et al. Pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic comparison of epinephrine, administered intranasally and intramuscularly. Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol 000 (2022) 1–7.

Turner PJ, Jerschow E, Umasunthar T, Lin R, Campbell DE, Boyle RJ. Fatal Anaphylaxis: Mortality Rate and Risk Factors. J Allergy Clin Immunol Pract. 2017 Sep-Oct;5(5):1169-1178.

Turner PJ, Muraro A, Roberts G. Pharmacokinetics of epinephrine autoinjectors. Clin Exp Allergy. 2022 Jan;52(1):18-28.

Tuttle R, Popescu L, Hill S, Slanczka A, Jankowski J, Barre K, Krueger E, Slade D, Croutch C, Robben M, Mesa Z, Mesa M, Dretchen KL. Intranasal epinephrine effects on epinephrine pharmacokinetics and heart rate in a nasal congestion canine model. Respir Res. 2020 Apr 3;21(1):78.

Upton J, Vadas P. Potential therapeutic strategies for severe anaphylaxis targeting plateletactivating factor and PAF acetylhydrolas. Current Treatment Options in Allery. 2014;1:232-246.

Warren CM, Zaslavsky JM, Kan K, Spergel JM, Gupta RS. Epinephrine auto-injector carriage and use practices among US children, adolescents, and adults. Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol. 2018 Oct;121(4):479-489.e2.

Webb LM, Lieberman P. Anaphylaxis: a review of 601 cases. Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol. 2006 Jul;97(1):39-43.

Westfall TC, Westfall DP. Adrenergic agonists and antagonists. In: Brunton LL, Chabner BA, Knollmann BC, editors. Goodman and Gilman's The Pharmacological Basis of Therapeutics. 12th ed. New York, NY: McGraw-Hill Companies, Inc; 2011. In. eds.

White MV. The role of histamine in allergic diseases. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 1990 Oct;(4 Pt 2):599-605.

White MV, Hogue SL, Bennett ME, Goss D, Millar K, Hollis K, Siegel PH, Wolf RA, Wooddell MJ, Silvia S. EpiPen4Schools pilot survey: Occurrence of anaphylaxis, triggers, and epinephrine administration in a U.S. school setting. Allergy Asthma Proc. 2015 Jul-Aug;36(4):306-12.

Appendix 1: EpiPen Study Results Compared to Neffy

neffy PK is Also Bracketed by EpiPen studies (Cmax)

Treatment	Study Reference	N	Mean Study C _{max} (pg/mL)	Median Study T _{max} (^{min)}	T _{max} range (^{min)}	Administration
EpiPen (0.3 mg)	AQST-109 EPIPHAST II Results (2022)	22	869	22	5 to 40	HCP
EpiPen (0.3 mg)	ARS EPI-JP01 Data (2020)	30	676	10	2 to 45	HCP
EpiPen (0.3 mg)	ARS EPI-15 (2022)	35	612	8	2 to 45	HCP
EpiPen (0.3 mg)	Tal et al. EAACI (2022)	12	550	9	n.d.	HCP
EpiPen (0.3 mg)	ARS EPI-11b Data (2021)	9	537	6	2 to 6	HCP
EpiPen (0.3 mg)	Edwards et al. NDA #201739 (2012)	67	520	10.2	4 to 60	HCP
EpiPen (0.3 mg)	Chen et al. AAAAI (2019)	11	511	5	3 to 50	HCP
EpiPen (0.3 mg)	ARS EPI-12 Data (2021)	36	493	8	3 to 154	Self-Admin
EpiPen (0.3 mg)	ARS EPI-13 Data (2022)	39	490	6	2 to 240	Self-Admin
neffy (2.0 mg)	ARS EPI-16 data (2022)	36	491	20	2 to 120	HCP
neffy (2.0 mg)	ARS integrated analysis (2022)	78	485	20.5	2 to 150	НСР
neffy (2.0 mg)	ARS EPI-15 data (2022)	42	481	30	6 to 150	HCP
neffy (2.0 mg)	ARS EPI-17 data (2022)	42	421	30	6 to 240	Self-Admin
EpiPen (0.3 mg)	Worm et al. Clin Transl Allergy (2020) ²	12	390 to 530	9 to 30	3 to 120	HCP
EpiPen (0.3 mg)	Turner et al. Clin Exp Allergy (2021) ³	37	386	40	3 to 90	HCP
EpiPen (0.3 mg)	Amphastar US2021/030502 (2021) ¹	56	364 - 458	7 - 15	n.d.	HCP
EpiPen (0.3 mg)	ARS EPI-07 Data (2019)	35	375	24	4 to 45	HCP
EpiPen (0.3 mg)	Dworaczyk et al. AAAAI (2020) ¹	55	308 to 440	10 - 16	1 to 61	HCP
EpiPen (0.3 mg)	Oppenheimer et al. AAAAI (2022)	10	341	22	5 to 90	HCP
EpiPen (0.3 mg)	ARS EPI-01 Data (2018)	12	333	20	6 to 45	HCP
EpiPen (0.3 mg)	Aquestive R&D Day (2021)	9	300	10 ⁴	n.d.	HCP
EpiPen (0.3 mg)	Dworaczyk et al. AAAAI (2021)	25	288	10	5 to 90	HCP